COMPANY ANNOUNCEMENT
MEDSERV P.L.C.
(THE “COMPANY”)
Errata Corrige - Annual Financial Statements
Date of Announcement
Reference
Listing Rule

1 May 2019
184/2019
LR 5.16

Quote
The Company announces that the directors report of the annual financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018 has been amended to properly calculate the
Interest Cover Ratio, the Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio and Debt to Equity Ratio reported
under the paragraph entitled “Financial key performance indicators”.
An updated version of the annual financial statements is being attached to this company
announcement and is available for viewing on the Company’s website at
www.medservenergy.com.
The errors are regretted.
Unquote

Laragh Cassar
Company Secretary
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Medserv Group
Global Presence

BASES

BASES

RESPRESENTATIVE OFFICES

1 SURINAME

2 MALTA

3 LIBYA

4 DAMIETTA, EGYPT

5 LIMASSOL, CYPRUS

6 PORT SAID, EGYPT

7 BASRA, IRAQ

8 UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

9 SOHAR, OMAN

10 DUQM, OMAN
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For the year ended
31 April 2019

Chairman’s Statement
The year under review, 2018,
was a very encouraging year for
the Medserv Group and sets the
expectations of all stakeholders
for both the medium and the long
term. Recent strategic decisions
taken during the past three years
are starting to produce the results
expected from such actions and
these are explained in detail in our
CEO’s report.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C
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Chairman’s Statement

The Group is now considered a global player in
our industry. We are servicing more clients in more
continents and we seek to continue growing in a
sustainable manner. We remain first movers and put a
lot of emphasis on improving our product globally.
The management team, led by Group CEO Karl
Bartolo, have not only met but surpassed targets set
by my board. The division of responsibility between
the CEO and myself as Chairman is having a positive
effect. My board is focused on delivering long-term
strategy to ensure the Group maintains its leading
position in our sector whereas Management is focused
on delivering this in the interest of all stakeholders.
The long-term future of the Group is paramount in
all we do. However, short-term considerations should
not be overlooked in achieving this aim. Included in
these considerations, is the resumption of dividend
payments after this long period of essential investment.
The initiative commenced by the two main
shareholders, as announced on the 30th April 2018
to seek new strategic investors to take forward the
Group is ongoing but moving at a cautious pace and
discussions with interested parties are progressing.

The Group looks to the future with confidence.
The market is back as evidenced by the stability
of oil prices, and the Group has positioned itself to
participate in the renewed activity globally. All of this
would not have been possible without the work put in
by my fellow board members, management and staff
that operate around the world. I also would like to
thank all stakeholders in the Group being shareholders,
bond holders and minority partners in our subsidiaries
for their continued support.

Anthony S. Diacono
Chairman
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For the year ended
31 December 2018

CEO’s Statement

Significantly
improved
earnings

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

Today Medserv operates across
four continents and is a recognised
international service provider by the
Oil Majors and the internationally
recognised oil and gas industry
players. Medserv strategy is to
drive earnings growth by becoming
the leading provider of Integrated
Logistic Support Services (ILSS)
and supply chain management
contractor for oil country tubular
goods (OCTG) within the oil and gas
service industry.
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CEO’s Statement

Significantly
improved
earnings
(Contd)

For year 2018 adjusted earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) amounted to €7.3m,
an improvement of 69% over the previous
year and surpassing the Group’s forecast
by 3% A detailed analysis of the Group’s
financial performance for the reporting
year is provided in the Directors’ report.
The Group is positioned for further
growth as the market becomes more
confident. This is further strengthened as
new discoveries increase drilling programs,
existing contracts are extended, and
new business is secured. North Africa,

Performance
in 2018

The Company’s main operating
segments are primarily ILSS and OCTG,
generating total revenues for year 2018
of €36.2 million (2017: €28.8 million),
a 28% increase year on year. EBITDA
grew by over 69%, from €4.3 million to
€7.3 million. During 2018, the ILSS were
predominantly provided to the offshore
oil and gas projects carried out within the
Mediterranean basin, whilst supply chain
management and machine shop services
for OCTG were mainly performed in the
Middle East.
In year 2018, the Group provided
shore base support services to all the
drilling activity offshore Libya, Cyprus
and the offshore oil and gas activity in
Egypt connected to the Zohr field. The
Company supported both ENI and Exxon
drilling campaigns in Cyprus, resulting in
discoveries which increased interest in
the region and neighbouring countries.
Other opportunities are now being actively
explored in this promising market.
The Group’s first half of the year of
operations in Egypt required a significant
amount of resources to setup its
management systems. This subsidiary
started generating positive EBITDA from
the fourth quarter of the reporting year.

Middle East as well as the expanding
region of the Eastern Mediterranean
and South America have significant oil
and gas projects in the pipeline which
demand services within the Group’s key
competencies.
Revenue is forecast to double in
year 2019 with a consequent increase in
EBITDA.

The strongest performer in the
Middle East during 2018 remained the
Oman’s business unit despite the onetime impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment amounting to €0.6m
for curtailing its facilities in Sohar and
moving its operation in Duqm, in line with
the local Government policy. Sumitomo, a
global tubular manufacturer, is the driver
of this business by constantly supplying
large quantities of pipe in the region and
selecting our subsidiary METS as their
partner for supply chain management
services.
The operations in Iraq remain
dampened, resulting in an impairment on
property, plant and equipment amounting
to €0.4m. Management is in the process
of restructuring this business unit. The
Company remains committed to Iraq as
operators in the Basra region (South Iraq)
have reactivated their plans to boost
their output by a combined 1.8 million
barrels of oil per day. Increased enquires
and work orders are proof of improved
market conditions in this country after the
reporting period.
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opportunities

Annual Report 2018

Activity in the oil and gas industry is
increasing and the Group is registering
positive results in its core competences.
Swift action by management to address
the changing realities of both industry and
the company has positioned Medserv for
future growth. The Staatsolie Suriname
contract award valued at $30.6 million has
provided the Group with a stepping stone
to a new emerging region with growing
interest and opportunities for both of its
operating segments – ILSS and OCTG.
As mentioned in our previous published
statements, the Group is still waiting for
state authority approval for the Uganda
project to proceed. An award would
provide the Group with another long-term
contract with consistent revenues. The
Group is also awaiting the adjudication
of an award of additional Supply Chain
Management contracts in the Middle
East in 2019, the volumes of which are
forecasted to be equivalent to those
currently being managed by the subsidiary
in Oman.

Strategy
forward

As mentioned, the Group’s objective
is to continue to grow its earnings.
The strong business pipeline allows
the Company to deliver its objectives,
amongst which the resumption of dividend
payment, the reduction in structural debt
and the continuation of investment in
information systems.
As already announced, the two major
shareholders of the Company, who
together hold 65.5% of the Company’s
issued share capital are in the process
of seeking a strategic investor to acquire
their shareholding in the Company. This
process is still ongoing, and interest
remains positive. The team I lead remains
focused on delivering shareholder value.
The introduction of the right strategic
partner will be of benefit in accelerating
the Company’s growth potential.
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The Group expects to benefit from
synergies in cross-selling its services
within its existing facilities. METS Oman
business unit could be the first to benefit
from cross-selling as current facilities
designed for supply chain management of
OCTG may be utilised as a shore base for
exploratory drilling campaigns.
The Group remains poised for
achieving this growth without the need of
significant additional capital expenditure
by commercialising its management
services, a new revenue stream. In
Suriname, it was the management
systems and experience which led
to the contract award. The Group’s
operational reach in Europe, Middle East,
South America and Africa is presenting
unprecedented opportunities for both
ILSS and OCTG.

We have come a long way from last
year and the main factors contributing
to this positive change of events is that
the Market is improving, and the team is
successfully competing across all regions.
We still have more work to achieve the
results demanded by our board and
shareholders, but I remain confident that
with the Management team in place we
are heading onwards and upwards thanks
to the team’s effort for which I am grateful.

Karl Bartolo
CEO
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social
Responsibility
For the year ended
31 December 2018

The Company places significant
importance on contributing to the
communities in which we operate.
The following are the various ways in
which Medserv has provided support over
the year in review.
The people of Kerala have always
been and are still central to the Medserv
success story, especially in the Middle East.
Subsequent to the floods which wrecked
the community in August 2018, the worst
flood Kerala has seen in nearly a century,
Medserv together with our staff from the
various Group bases across the globe,
aided through financial donations to the
Kerala Foundation to provide some relief to
the Keralan communities.
Medserv Cyprus embarked on an
awareness campaign in relation to
reusable water bottles so as to reduce
plastic waste and donated Medserv
branded re-usable bottles to countryside
schools in the region. They plan to continue
to build on this initiative in 2019.

Medserv Malta and Medserv Cyprus
have actively participated in a Pink
October Awareness Campaign to help
raise awareness amongst their employees
about the importance of screening for
breast cancer.
In 2018, the Company donated
funds to several entities, including the
Association for Abandoned Animals
Sanctuary, L-Istrina and Puttinu Cares.
Donations of food to the Malta Food
Bank were made, and a number of
blood donations by its employees were
organised on site at the Malta base.

14

Our
Commitment
to Health,
Safety,
Security,
Environment
& Quality
(HSSEQ)

Green
Energy
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The Company is keen on promoting
a healthier and more active lifestyle
and provide support for its employees
whenever possible. In the year under
review, the Company supported some
of its employees in their participation in
The GRID Event in Malta. The GRID is an
OCR Event that occurs twice a year, with
the main event usually held in June with
a course averaging 12 to 15km offering 30
plus obstacles, rough terrains, sea and sun,
challenging all athletes.

Support was also provided for another
employee who participated in the World
Company Sport Games held in La Baule,
France as part of the Malta Employees
Sports Association (MESA) contingent and
went on to finish in second place.

Through the creation and
implementation of the Company’s 12 Life
Saving Rules in August 2018, Medserv
has reinforced its commitment to reduce
the number of HSSEQ incidents at the
workplace. Rollout across all bases took
place in 2018 and reinforcement of the
Practices is being carried out throughout
2019 by means of a Safety Awareness
Campaign which involves all employees
and contractors across the board.
In 2018, METS Group successfully achieved
ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and OSHAS
18001:2007 International Standards
Certification as follows:

•

METSUAE (Hamrijah) achieved ISO
9001:2015 certification, August 2018

•

METS Iraq achieved ISO 9001:2015
certification, April 2018

•

METS Sohar (Oman) achieved ISO
9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 & OSHAS
18001:2007 certification, April 2018

In 2014, Medserv invested in a large
Solar Farm at its base in Malta Freeport.
Over 8,000 photovoltaic (PV) panels
were installed. At year end, the Group’s
solar farm was fast approaching a
milestone figure, just over 9 million kg of
CO2 emissions saved. As at 31 December
2018, the system had produced exactly
14,090,343 kWh of energy to date.

Testament to the positive safety
culture that has developed throughout the
group, a Medserv Cyprus employee at the
Limassol base, Rafael Michael, has been
awarded the ExxonMobil Gold Standard
Award for Safety for recognising and
taking action in an unsafe predicament.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended
31 December 2018

The directors have prepared this
directors’ report for Medserv p.l.c.
(“the Company”) in accordance with
Article 177 of the Companies Act,
1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta)
(“the Act”) including the further
provisions as set out in the Sixth
Schedule to the Act together with the
financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Board of
Directors

Anthony S Diacono
Anthony J Duncan
Joseph F X Zahra

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Godwin A Borg
Laragh Cassar
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Principal
activities

The Group’s principal activities
consist of providing shore base logistics
and engineering services to the offshore
oil and gas industry and supply chain
management for Oil Country Tubular
Goods (OCTG) to support the onshore oil
and gas industry. Shore base logistics is
mainly provided from the Group’s bases
set up in Mediterranean rim countries,
supporting International Oil Companies
(IOCs) in their offshore activities, ranging

from exploration to development and
production. Supply chain management for
OCTG are mainly provided by Middle East
Tubular Services Group of Companies
(METS) from its facilities in the Middle
East. The Group is continuously working
to cross-sell its services within its Group’s
operating segments.

Review of
business
development

With spending returning by the IOCs
on the back of stronger oil prices, year
2018 saw a recovery gain traction in the
global oil and gas upstream sector, with
activity overall heading in an upward
trajectory. The investment that the Group
has put in place in its management
systems during the past years is bearing
positive results. Medserv and METS have
achieved international recognition within
the oil and gas service industry for their
core competencies, namely the Integrated
Logistics Support Services (ILSS)
and OCTG.

During the year, the Company secured
a second contract in Cyprus with a major
IOC, strengthening the Company’s leading
position in the region. The Company
has already successfully supported two
drilling campaigns during the year both of
which resulted in considerable gas finds,
triggering multi-drilling programs in the
coming years as well as interest by other
IOCs in securing acreage in neighbouring
countries. The Company is in discussions
to secure a third contract with another
major IOC as it consolidates its facilities in
Limassol shore base, following the closure
of the Larnaca base earlier this year.

The year 2018 was marked with a
number of value propositions which have
increased the underlying values of the
Company’s contracts as well as unlocking
new opportunities in both its
operating segments.
Operations in Egypt commenced
at the beginning of the year. As in any
startup, the contract implementation was
challenging as the Company finalized its
recruitment for key personnel and the
purchase of all its own equipment. All
this equipment has been commissioned
towards the fourth quarter, with increased
earnings and margins reflected in this
period. Following the successful execution
of this important contract, the Group
is well positioned to secure services of
similar scope with other operators
in Egypt.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

The Group continues to service the
offshore Libya Bahr Essalam Phase two
project as its contracts are extended.
Work volume is anticipated to increase in
line with the IOCs’ offshore development
plan to increase offshore field production
volumes in Libya.
In Portugal, the client has
discontinued its project following the
ruling by the Portuguese courts to
suspend their licence. As a result, a
decision has been taken by the Company
during the year to close down the base in
Portugal.
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Principal
risks and
uncertainties

The OCTG operating segment
operating solely in the Middle East remains
a key contributor to the Group’s earnings.
The subsidiary in Duqm, Oman continue
to generate substantial earnings. The
performance of the subsidiary in Iraq
remains weak. The Company remains
committed to operating in this country as
a result of the improving market conditions
and the potential growth opportunities.
However, this may still warrant
restructuring measures. The Iraq business
venture has a leading position being
the sole VAM® licensed workshop in the
south of the country. The VAM® licensee
network consists of certified repair shops
that thread premium connections of the
same quality and performance as those
delivered from the production facilities of
Vallourec Oil & Gas France.

During the fourth quarter of 2018, the
Company secured a shore base contract
valued at $30.6 million in South America,
a new geographical market, following
an international tendering process. The
contract is for a period of fifteen months
commencing on 1 January 2019. The
contract relates to an emerging region
adjacent to recent discoveries in offshore
Guyana, potentially providing further
opportunities in the region for the Group.

The Board considers the nature
and the extent of the risk profile that is
acceptable to the Board and the impact
these risks pose to the Group. The most
important strategic, corporate and
operational risks, as well as uncertainties
identified during the year together with
the actions taken by the Group to reduce
these risks are listed below:

POLITICAL RISK

CONCENTRATION RISK
The Group’s business is heavily
dependent on relatively few customers
both in the shore base logistics and OCTG.
The Group’s objective is to increase client
spread within the oil and gas industry.
The acquisition of METS was a significant
measure taken during 2016 to reduce client
concentration risk. During the year, the
Group has secured contracts with other
major IOCs. The strategic development
team is continuously working to secure
business with new IOCs.

The Board continues to strategically
lead the business focusing on the
activities it has experience in, as well as
on the opportunities it sees going forward.

The Group’s results may be
significantly impacted positively
or negatively as a result of political
decisions. Regulatory and environmental
decisions as well as political instability
can delay, disrupt or cancel projects.
The fiscal and economic conditions in
Libya remained fragile during the year,
characterised by record inflation and a
persistent political strife between rival
governments. In Iraq, the political and
security situation has improved following
the swearing-in of a prime minister
designate and president in October
2018. Iraq is the second-largest crude
oil producer in the Organisation of the
Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC)
after Saudi Arabia and is therefore a key
pillar within the oil market. The Group
now operates in eight jurisdictions, with
the intention of increasing its operational
footprint to continue to minimise this risk.
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uncertainties
(Contd)

Financial
performance
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OIL PRICE
Oil service companies tend to have
greater volatility of earnings than oil
majors, given their sensitivity to the capital
spending plans of oil explorers, which
wax and wane with oil prices. The Group
is always striving to reduce this risk by
investing in countries where cost of oil
production is low, primarily in the Middle
East and Africa. Also, the Group’s strategy

Group’s total revenue for the year
amounted to €36,187,199 (2017: €28,777,143),
representing an increase of 26% over the
previous year. The increase in revenue
during 2018 is mainly attributable to the
market recovery within the ILSS segment
as the number of the offshore drilling
campaigns carried out by the IOCs in the
Mediterranean basin have resulted in the
Company’s shore base facilities being
active for most of the year. The OCTG
segment has maintained the same levels
of revenue generated last year.
The Adjusted Earnings before
Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA) of the Group
amounted to €7,318,591 (2017: €4,329,720),
a significant improvement of 69% over the
previous year as a result of the revenue
growth. After recognising depreciation
amounting to €7,874,498 (2017: €5,646,216),
amortisation amounting to €1,923,600
(2017: €2,779,292), net provision for
impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment amounting to €981,572 (2017:
€nil), the Group incurred an operating
loss amounting to €3,461,446 (2017: loss of
€4,095,787). This loss is mainly the result
of the increase in the depreciation and
the one-time net provision for impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

is to increase the number of services
offered. The Group’s product services
include ‘Offshore Logistics’, ‘Drilling Fluid
Manufacture’, ‘OCTG Pipe Services’,
‘Engineering Services’ and ‘Environmental
Services’. During the year, the Group
continued its drive to increase its spread
by adding ‘Management Services’ within
its portfolio.

The Group continued to generate cash
profits in a period of market slowdown
(specifically from 2016 to 2018) and this
allowed the Group to maintain investment
through that period, enabling the Group
to meet demand and new opportunities as
the market recovers.
After deducting the net finance costs
amounting to €5,369,898 (2017: €3,941,199),
the Group registered a loss before tax
of €8,831,344 (2017: loss before tax of
€8,036,986). Loss after accounting for
taxation amounted to €9,526,894 (2017:
€7,633,558).
The Group registered negative
earnings per share of €0.16c8 (2017:
negative earnings per share of €0.13c8).
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REVENUE
The Group’s revenue was 59% (2017:
50%) generated by the ILSS segment, 40%
(2017: 48%) by the OCTG segment and the
remaining 1% by the photovoltaic income
(2017: 2%).
COST OF SALES AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES
The cost of sales of the Group for
the year amounted to €33,639,893
against €26,614,100 incurred in 2017, while
gross profit margins decreased by 0.5%
compared to last year. The main causes
behind this decrease were the following:
•

An increase in the depreciation charge
by €2.2 million (40%) over the previous
year mainly as a result of the Group’s
continuous investment in its plant and
equipment especially in Egypt and the
setting up of new facilities in Cyprus
and Duqm;

•

The lower margins earned during the
starting up of the subsidiary in Egypt
during the first half of the year;

Cost of sales also include the
amortisation of the intangible assets
amounting to €1,472,987 (2017: €1,666,013)
which were recognised in 2016 upon the
acquisition of METS. These intangible
assets consist mainly of customer
relationships and is being amortised over a
period of ten years. The Company believes
that the intrinsic value from the recognised
customer relationships is yet to be derived
in the coming years.
Administrative expenses are mainly
fixed by nature. The decrease of 12%
over last year is mainly the result of
the decrease in the amortisation of the

contract costs relating to the signing
bonuses granted to key management
personnel of METS upon acquisition in
2016. The Group continues its investment
in its business development with the
objective of participating in new tenders
as opportunities present themselves.
OTHER EXPENSES
Other expenses consist mainly of a
provision on impairment losses on the
plant and equipment of the subsidiary in
Iraq, as a result of the net losses sustained
by the subsidiary and on the base
improvements in Sohar, given that the
Group downsized its base in Sohar.
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YEAR
YEAR
		
2018
2017
		 € Million

€ Million

Total turnover 		

36.19

28.78

Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS)		

21.47

13.97

Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG)		

14.22

14.28

Photovoltaic Farm		

0.5

0.53

The Group

Adjusted EBITDA		
7.33

4.43

Loss for the year		
(9.53)

(7.64)

9.62

4.53

Cash and cash equivalents		(2.41)

2.77

Cash generated from operating activities		

Equity		
18.67
28.10
Balance sheet total		
156.78
Capital expenditure		
6.88

153.27
2.60

		
YEAR
YEAR
		
2018
2017

EBITDA margin in %		

20.27%

15.41%

Interest coverage ratio		

2.03

1.53

Net debt to EBITDA		

7.34

11.10

Debt to Equity ratio		

3

1.85

EPS		
(16c8)
(13c8)
Average employee for the year		

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

292

258
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Financial
Position

The equity attributable to the owners
of the Company as at 31 December
2018 amounted to €19,323,796 (2017:
€28,250,706).

Dividends

No reserves are available for
distribution.

Reserves

Accumulated losses amounting to
€8,215,519 and €695,423 for the Group
and the Company respectively are being
carried forward.

Future
Developments

In line with the Group’s strategy for
diversification in geographic markets,
client base and product services, the
Group is actively positioning itself
for growth in various new significant
oil and gas markets. The Group is
awaiting adjudication on tenders
relating to Supply Chain Management
contracts in the Middle East during
2019. These long-term contracts
are a result of organic growth in the
region following the acquisition of the
METS Group in 2016. The volumes and
profits projected from these contracts
would be equivalent to those currently
being earned in Oman. The provision
of machine shop services in Uganda

is still on track and is awaiting a final
investment decision by the Joint Venture
Partners, Tullow Oil, China National
Offshore Oil Corporation (CNOOC) and
Total. These long-term projects would
provide the Group with consistent
and dependable earnings from 2020
onwards. The Company is experiencing
an increasing number of tendering
opportunities within its core ILSS and
OCTG competencies and is in discussions
with IOCs to cross-sell its existing facilities
for supply chain management of OCTG
to support both the offshore and onshore
drilling campaigns.
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Events
occurring
after the
end of the
accounting
period

Medserv International Limited, a
subsidiary domiciled and incorporated in
Malta, has been awarded a fifteen months
contract to provide ILSS services for the
nearshore drilling campaign conducted
by Suriname’s national oil company in the
country. This new contract was awarded

through a competitive tender process
and is effective as from 1 January 2019.
Consequently, the subsidiary has opened
a branch in Suriname on 14 January 2019.

Outlook

Five years after the downturn, the
oil and gas industry has managed
to demonstrate its ability to reinvent
itself. The sector has emerged from this
downturn as more flexible and robust with
oil majors reporting higher profits at the
current barrel oil prices than when the oil
was trading above $100 a barrel prior to
2014. The premium OCTG market has also
climbed in price and increased in delivery
times and this is increasing the demand
for the repair and accessory production
market in which the Group is present.
Consideration is now being given to the
cost of repair over the cost of replacement
of OCTG. This steady improvement across

the industry is expected to continue
as upstream companies increase
production, helping the midstream and
services businesses as well.

Going concern

As required by Listing Rule 5.62, upon
due consideration of the Group and
Company’s performance and statement
of financial position, capital adequacy

and solvency, the directors confirm the
Group and Company’s ability to continue
operating as a going concern for the
foreseeable future.

Auditors

KPMG have expressed their willingness
to continue in office. A resolution
proposing the reappointment of KPMG

as auditors of the Company will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

The Group anticipates significantly
improved performance in all its operating
segments. This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s access to lucrative
markets as a result of its diversification,
its projected business pipeline and the
firm floor under the oil prices which is
expected to be maintained in the coming
years.
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Disclosure
in terms of the
Listing Rules

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.64

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Company’s authorised share
capital is €12,000,000 divided into
120,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.10 per
share. The Company’s issued share capital
is €5,374,440.50 divided into 53,744,405
ordinary shares of €0.10 per share. All of

the issued shares of the Company form
part of one class of ordinary shares in
the Company, which shares are listed on
the Malta Stock Exchange. All shares in
the Company have the same rights and
entitlements and rank pari passu between
themselves.

The following are highlights of the rights attaching to the shares:

Dividends

The shares carry the right to participate in any distribution of
dividend declared by the Company;

Voting rights

Each share shall be entitled to one vote at meetings of shareholders;

Pre-emption
rights

Subject to the limitations contained in the memorandum and articles
of association, shareholders in the Company shall be entitled, in
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association, to be offered any new shares to be issued by
the Company a right to subscribe for such shares in proportion to
their then current shareholding, before such shares are offered to the
public or to any person not being a shareholder

Capital
distributions

The shares carry the right for the holders thereof to participate in any
distribution of capital made whether on a winding up or otherwise;

Transferability

The shares are freely transferable in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Malta Stock Exchange, applicable from time to
time;

Other

The shares are not redeemable and not convertible into any other
form of security;

Mandatory
takeover bids

Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules, implementing the relevant SqueezeOut and Sell-Out Rules provisions of Directive 2004/25/EC of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 21 April 2004, regulates the
acquisition by a person or persons acting in concert of the control of
a company and provides specific rules on takeover bids, squeeze-out
rules and sell-out rules. The shareholders of the Company may be
protected by the said Listing Rules in the event that the Company is
subject to a Takeover Bid (as defined therein). The Listing Rules may
be viewed on the official website of the Listing Authority - www.mfsa.
com.mt;
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Holdings in
excess of 5% of
the share capital

On the basis of the information available to the Company as at
31 December 2018, the following persons hold 5% or more of its issued
share capital:

Malampaya Investments Limited

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.64

34.33%

(18,450,000 shares)

Anthony S Diacono

31.17%

(16,751,835 shares)

Rizzo Farrugia & Co

10.71%

(5,754,844 shares)

(Stockbrokers) Limited

(Contd)

on behalf of clients

As far as the Company is aware, no other person holds any
direct or indirect shareholding in excess of 5% of its total issued
share capital.
Appointment/
Replacement of
Directors

In terms of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the directors of the Company shall be appointed by the
shareholders in the annual general meeting as follows:
(a) Any shareholder/s who, in the aggregate, holds not less than 0.5%
of the total shares having voting rights in the Company shall be
entitled to nominate a fit and proper person for appointment as a
director of the Company. The directors themselves or a committee
thereof may make recommendations and nominations to the
shareholders for the appointment of directors at the next following
annual general meeting.
(b) Shareholders are granted a period of at least fourteen (14)
days to nominate candidates for appointment as Directors. Such
notice may be given by the publication of an advertisement in at
least two (2) daily newspapers. All such nominations, including
the candidate’s acceptance to be nominated as director, shall, on
pain of disqualification, be made on the form to be prescribed by
the Directors from time to time and shall reach the Office not later
than fourteen (14) days after the publication of the said notice (the
“Submission Date”); PROVIDED THAT the Submission Date shall not be
less than fourteen (14) days prior to the date of the meeting appointed
for such election. Nominations to be made by the Directors or any
sub-committee of the Directors appointed for that purpose shall also
be made by not later than the date established for the closure of
nominations to shareholders.
(c) In the event that there are either less nominations than there are
vacancies on the board or if there are as many nominations made
as there are vacancies on the Board, then each person so nominated
shall be automatically appointed a director.
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25

Directors’ Report

Disclosure
in terms of the
Listing Rules

Appointment/
Replacement of
Directors
(Contd)

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.64
(Contd)

(d) In the event that there are more nominations made, then an
election shall take place. After the date established as the closing
date for nominations to be received by the Company for persons to
be appointed directors, the directors shall draw the names of each
candidate by lot and place each name in a list in the order in which
they were drawn. The list shall be signed by the Chairman and the
Company Secretary for verification purposes.
(e) On the notice calling the annual general meeting at which an
election of directors is to take place, there shall be proposed one
resolution for the appointment of each candidate in the order in which
the names were drawn, so that there shall be as many resolutions
as there are candidates. The Directors shall further ensure that any
Member may vote for each candidate by proxy.
(f) At the general meeting at which the election of directors is to take
place, the Chairman shall propose the name of each candidate as a
separate resolution and the shareholders shall take a separate vote
for each candidate (either by a show of hands or through a poll). Each
shareholder shall be entitled, in the event of a poll, to use all or part
only of his votes on a particular candidate.
(g) Upon a resolution being carried, the candidate proposed by
virtue of that resolution shall be considered elected and appointed a
Director. No further voting shall take place once enough resolutions
have been passed to ensure that all vacancies on the Board have
been filled, even if there are still candidates with respect to whom a
resolution has not yet been called.
(h) Shareholders may vote in favour or against the resolution for the
appointment of a director in any election, and a resolution shall be
considered carried if it receives the assent of more than 50% of the
shareholders present and voting at the meeting.
(i) Unless a shareholder demands that a vote be taken in respect of
all or any one or more of the nominees, in the event that there are as
many nominations as there are vacancies or less, no voting will take
place and the nominees will be deemed appointed directors.
(j) Subject to the above, any vacancy among the directors may be
filled by the co-option of another person to fill such vacancy. Such cooption shall be made by the board of directors and shall be valid until
the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.
(k) Any director may be removed, at any time, by the Member or
Members by whom he was appointed. The removal may be made in
the same manner as the appointment.
Any director may be removed at any time by the Company in a
general meeting pursuant to the provisions of section 140 of the Act.
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Amendment
to the
Memorandum
and Articles of
Association

In terms of the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the laws of Malta, the
Company may, by extraordinary resolution at a general meeting,
alter or add to its memorandum or articles of association. An
extraordinary resolution is one where:
(a) It has been taken at a general meeting of which notice specifying
the intention to propose the text of the resolution as an extraordinary
resolution and the principle purpose thereof has been duly given;

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.64

(b) It has been passed by a shareholder or shareholders having the
right to attend and vote at the meeting holding in the aggregate not
less than seventy five per cent (75%) in nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company represented and entitled to vote at the
meeting and at least fifty one per cent (51%) in nominal value of all the
shares issued by the Company and entitled to vote at the meeting.

(Contd)

If one of the aforesaid majorities is obtained but not both, another
meeting shall be duly convened within 30 days to take a fresh vote on
the proposed resolution. At the second meeting the resolution may be
passed by a shareholder or shareholders having the right to attend
and vote at the meeting holding in the aggregate not less than 75% in
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company represented and
entitled to vote at the meeting. However, if more than half in nominal
value of all the shares issued by the Company having the right to vote
at the meeting is represented at that meeting, a simple majority in
nominal value of such shares so represented shall suffice.

Board members’
powers

The Directors are vested with the management of the Company,
and their powers of management and administration emanate
directly from the memorandum and articles of association and the
law. The Directors are empowered to act on behalf of the Company
and in this respect have the authority to enter into contracts, sue
and be sued in representation of the Company. In terms of the
memorandum and articles of association they may do all such things
that are not by the memorandum and articles of association reserved
for the Company in general meeting.
In particular, the Directors are authorised to issue shares in the
Company with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such
restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or
otherwise as the Directors may from time to time determine, as long
as such issue of Equity Securities falls within the authorised share
capital of the Company. Unless the shareholders otherwise approve
in a general meeting, the Company shall not in issuing and allotting
new shares:
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Pursuant to
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5.64

(a) Allot any of them on any terms to any person unless an offer has
first been made to each existing shareholder to allot to him at least
on the same terms, a proportion of the new shares which is as nearly
as practicable equal to the proportion in nominal value held by him
of the aggregate shares in issue in the Company immediately prior to
the new issue of shares; and
(b) Allot any of them to any person upon the expiration of any offer
made to existing shareholders in terms of a) above. Any such shares
not subscribed for by the existing shareholders may be offered for
subscription to the general public under the same or other conditions
which however cannot be more favourable to the public than offer
made under (a).

(Contd)

Furthermore, the Company may, subject to such restrictions,
limitations and conditions contained in the Companies Act, acquire
its own shares.

Save as otherwise disclosed herein, the provisions of Listing Rules 5.64.2, 5.64.4 to 5.64.7,
5.64.10 and 5.64.11 are not applicable to the Company.

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.70

Material Contracts in relation to which a
Director of the Company was directly or
indirectly interested
None

Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.70.2

Approved by the
Board of Directors
on 30 April 2019 and
signed on its behalf
by:

Company Secretary			
Dr Laragh Cassar LL.D.

Telephone				
(+356) 2220 2000

Registered Office of Company
Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

Anthony S. Diacono

Anthony J. Duncan

Chairman

Director
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Pursuant to
Listing Rule 5.68

Statement of the Directors
To the best of the knowledge of the
directors:

Signed on behalf
of the Board of
Directors on 30 April
2019 by:
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(i) the financial statements, prepared
in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Issuer
and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

(ii) the Directors’ report includes a
fair review of the performance of the
business and the position of the Company
and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that they face.

Anthony S. Diacono

Anthony J. Duncan

Chairman

Director
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Directors’ Statement
of Compliance with
the Code of Principles
of Good Corporate
Governance
Corporate
Governance Statement of
Compliance

Introduction

Pursuant to the Listing Rules issued
by the Listing Authority, Medserv p.l.c. (the
“Company”) as a company whose equity
securities are listed on a regulated market,
should endeavour to adopt the Code of
Principles of Good Corporate Governance
contained in Appendix 5.1 of the Listing
Rules (the “Code”). In terms of Listing Rule
5.94, the Company is obliged to prepare
a report explaining how it has complied
with the Code. For the purposes of the
Listing Rules, the Company is hereby
reporting on the extent of its adoption of
the recommended Code.
The directors strongly believe that
the practices recommended by the Code
are in the best interests of the Medserv
Group of Companies and its shareholders
generally and that compliance therewith
is not only expected by investors but
also evidences the directors’ and the
Company’s commitment to a high
standard of governance.

Good corporate governance is the
collective responsibility of the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”). As
demonstrated by the information set out
in this statement, the Company believes
that it has, save as indicated herein the
section entitled “Non-Compliance with the
Code”, throughout the accounting period
under review, applied the principles and
complied with the provisions of the Code.
In the Non-Compliance section, the Board
indicates and explains the instances
where it has departed from or where it has
not applied the Code, as allowed by the
Code
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PRINCIPLE 1: THE BOARD
The Board’s principal purpose is to
provide the required leadership of the
Company, to set the present and future
strategy of the Company and to ensure
proper oversight and accountability.
Throughout 2017, the Board comprised six
directors, three of whom holding Executive
positions, that is, Mr Anthony S. Diacono
(Executive Director), Mr Anthony J. Duncan
(Executive Director) and Mr Godwin A. Borg
(Executive Director) and three holding
Non-Executive positions, Mr Joseph
F.X. Zahra (Non-Executive Director), Mr
Joseph Zammit Tabona (Non-Executive
Director), and Laragh Cassar (NonExecutive Director). All of the directors
were nominated by the shareholders and
appointed automatically with effect from
the annual general meeting held on the 28
May 2018.
The presence of the executive directors
on the Board is designed to ensure that the
Board has direct access to the individuals
having the prime responsibility for the
executive management of the Company
and the implementation of approved
policies. Each director is provided with the
information and explanations as may be
required by any particular agenda item.
The Board delegates specific
responsibilities to an Audit Committee,
to a Remuneration Committee and to a
Financial Risk Committee. Further details
in relation to the said committees and the
responsibilities of the Board are found in
Principles 4 and 5 of this Statement.
The directors and Restricted
Persons (as defined in the Listing Rules)
are informed and are aware of their
obligations on dealings in securities of
the Company within the established
parameters of the law and the Listing
Rules. Each such Director and Senior
Officer has been provided with the code
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of dealing required in terms of Listing
Rule 5.106 and training in respect of their
obligations arising thereunder.
PRINCIPLE 2:
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Chairman of the Company
leads the Board and sets its agenda.
In addition, the Chairman ensures that
the directors receive precise, timely and
objective information so that they can
take sound decisions and effectively
monitor the performance of the Company
and that effective communication
with shareholders is maintained. The
Chairman also encourages active
engagement by all directors for discussion
of complex or contentious issues. The
executive responsibility for the running
of the Company’s business is collectively
vested as explained in Part 2.
PRINCIPLE 3:
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The Board considers that the size of
the Board, whilst not being large as to
be unwieldy, is appropriate, taking into
account the size of the Company and
its operations. The combined and varied
knowledge, experience and skills of the
Board members provides the balance
of competences that are required, adds
value to the functioning of the Board and
gives direction to the Company.
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As above set out, throughout the
period under review, the Board consisted
of three executive directors and three nonexecutive directors. Mr Joseph F.X. Zahra
(Non-Executive Director) and Mr Joseph
Zammit Tabona (Non-Executive Director)
are considered to be independent within
the meaning provided by the Code. Each
non-executive director has submitted a
declaration to the Board as stipulated
under the Code Provision 3.4 undertaking:
a) to maintain in all circumstances his/her
independence of analysis, decision and
action;
b) not to seek or accept any unreasonable
advantages that could be considered as
compromising his/her independence; and
c) to clearly express his/her opposition in
the event that he/she finds that a decision
of the board may harm the Company.
PRINCIPLE 4:
THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD
The Board has the first level
responsibility for executing the four basic
roles of Corporate Governance, namely
accountability, monitoring, strategy
formulation and policy development. The
Board has established a clear internal
and external reporting system so that
it has access to accurate, relevant
and timely information and ensures
that management constantly monitor
performance and report to its satisfaction.

responsibilities with regards to Group
Strategy. Mr Anthony J Duncan retained
his position as executive director and in
addition to his role as Finance Director,
has also assumed the responsibility for
Group Compliance.
Mr. Godwin A. Borg currently serves
as a consultant to the Company as
Technical Director as well as being a
member of the Board. The executive team
also comprises three Regional Managers
entrusted to manage the three present
main areas of current and future business,
the Mediterranean, Middle East and
Caribbean.
PRINCIPLE 5: BOARD MEETINGS
For the period under review the Board
has implemented its policy to meet at
least once every quarter. As a matter of
practice, each board meeting to be held
throughout the year is scheduled well
in advance of their due date and each
director is provided with detailed Board
papers relating to each agenda item in
good time prior to the actual meetings.
Board meetings concentrate mainly on
strategy, operational performance and
financial performance of the Company.
After each Board meeting and before the
next, Board minutes that faithfully record
attendance, key issues and decisions
are sent to the directors. Meetings were
attended as follows:

Members
During the year under review, the
Board continued to implement measures
in terms of its succession policy for
the Company’s directors and senior
management. In this respect, on the 30
April 2018, Mr Karl Bartolo was appointed
as Group CEO and Mr Silvio Camilleri
was appointed Group CFO. Mr Anthony S.
Diacono continued to occupy the position
of Chairman and has taken on specific

Meetings
Attended out of Total
held during tenure

Anthony S. Diacono
Anthony J. Duncan
Joseph F.X. Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Godwin Borg
Laragh Cassar

8 out of 8
8 out of 8
7 out of 8
8 out of 8
7 out of 8
7 out of 8
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The Board also delegates specific
responsibilities to the management team
of the Company, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the
Financial Risk Management Committee,
which Committees operate under their
formal terms of reference.

(Contd)

Board
Committees

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board delegates certain
responsibilities to the Audit Committee,
the terms of reference of which reflect
the requirements stipulated in the Listing
Rules and under applicable law, including
the roles set out in Listing Rules 5.127 to
5.130. In addition, unless otherwise dealt
with in any other manner prescribed by
the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has
the responsibility to, inter alia, monitor
and scrutinise, and, if required, approve
Related Party Transactions, if any, falling
within the ambits of the Listing Rules
and to make its recommendations to
the Board of any such proposed Related
Party Transactions. The Audit Committee
establishes internal procedures and
monitors these on a regular basis. The
terms of reference for the Audit Committee
are designed both to strengthen this
function within the Company and to widen
the scope of the duties and responsibilities
of this Committee. The Committee also
has the authority to summon any person
to assist it in the performance of its
duties, including the Company’s external
auditors. KPMG, as external auditors of the
Company, were invited to attend each of
the Company’s audit committee meetings.
During 2017, an internal audit function was
set-up. The role of the internal auditor is
to carry out systematic risk-based reviews
and appraisals of the operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the
purpose of advising management and

the Board, through the Audit Committee,
on the efficiency and effectiveness of
management policies, practices and
internal controls. The function is expected
to promote the application of best
practices within the organisation.
The appointment of the auditors of the
Company has been made in line with the
Statutory Audit Regulation (Regulation
(EU) No 537/2014), in particular in
compliance with Articles 16 and 17 of Title
III of the said Regulation.
Throughout 2018 to date, the Audit
Committee was composed of Mr Joseph
F.X. Zahra (independent non-executive
director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona
(independent non-executive director)
and Dr Laragh Cassar (non-executive
director). The Chairman of the Audit
Committee was appointed by the Board
of Directors.
During 2018, the Audit Committee met
eight times.

Members

Meetings
Attended out of Total
held during tenure

Joseph F.X. Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Laragh Cassar

7 out of 8
8 out of 8
5 out of 8
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Pursuant to
Listing Rule
5.64
(Contd)

The Board considers Joseph F.X.
Zahra to be independent and competent
in accounting and/or auditing. Such
determination was based on Mr Zahra’s
substantial experience in various audit,
accounting and risk management roles
throughout his career.
The Board is confident that the
Audit Committee Members, as a whole,
have competence relevant to the sector
in which the Issuer is operating, which
competence was garnered over the years
as a result of their involvement with the
Medserv group.

During 2018, the Financial Risk
Management Committee met four times.

Members		Attended

Mr Anthony J. Duncan		
Mr Karl Bartolo 		
Mr Silvio Camilleri		
Mr Colin Galea 		

1
3
4
4

		
Remuneration Committee – This is
considered under the Remuneration
Report.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE
SENIOR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
The Board has set up a Financial Risk
Management Committee composed of Mr
Anthony J. Duncan (executive director),
Mr Karl Bartolo (CEO), Mr Silvio Camilleri
(Group CFO) and Mr Colin Galea (Chief
Accountant). The said Committee was
set up with a view to manage the Group’s
currency, interest rates, liquidity and
foreign exchange risks and to manage
the Group’s own financial investments.
The Committee operates under specific
terms of reference approved by the
Board. The financial controllers within the
Medserv group are invited to attend each
meeting of the Financial Risk Management
Committee.

For information on the senior
executive management of the Group,
please see the section under the heading
“Principle 4: The Responsibilities of the
Board”.
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PRINCIPLE 6: INFORMATION AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Board appoints the Chief
Executive Officer. Appointments and
changes to senior management are the
responsibility of the CEO and Executive
Directors and are approved by the
Board. The Board actively considers the
professional and technical development of
all senior management and staff members.
The CEO also has systems in place to
monitor management and staff morale.
Management prepares detailed reviews for
each Board meeting covering all aspects
of the Company’s business. The CEO,
through the Human Resource Department
of the Group, has put systems in place to
monitor management and staff morale.
On joining the Board, a new director is
provided with the opportunity to consult
with the executive directors and senior
management of the Company in respect of
the operations of the Group. Each director
is made aware of the Company’s on-going
obligations in terms of the Companies
Act, the Listing Rules and other relevant
legislation. Directors have access to the
advice and services of the Company
Secretary and to the legal counsel to the
Company to the Board. The Company
is also prepared to bear the expense
incurred by the directors requiring
independent professional advice should
they judge it necessary to discharge their
responsibilities as directors.
PRINCIPLE 7: EVALUATION OF THE
BOARD’S PERFORMANCE
With respect to the year under review,
the Board undertook an evaluation of
its own performance, the Chairman’s
performance and that of its Committees.
The Board did not per se appoint a
Committee to carry out this performance
evaluation, but the evaluation exercise was
conducted through a questionnaire, copies
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of which were sent to the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and the results were
reported to the Chairman of the Board.
The said questionnaire also includes an
evaluation of the performance of the
Chairman.
PRINCIPLE 8: COMMITTEES
Remuneration Committee - This is
considered under the Remuneration
Report.
PRINCIPLE 9: RELATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND WITH THE
MARKET & PRINCIPLE 10: INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS
The Board is of the view that over
the period under review, the Company
has communicated effectively with the
market through a number of company
announcements that it published
informing the market of significant events
happening within the Company.
The Company also communicates
with its shareholders through its Annual
General Meeting (further detail is
provided under the section entitled
General Meetings). The Chairman
arranges for all directors to attend
the annual general meeting and for
the chairman of the Audit Committee
to be available to answer questions, if
necessary.
The Board ensures that sufficient
contact is maintained with major
shareholders to understand issues and
concerns.
Apart from the annual general
meeting, the Company intends to
continue with its active communication
strategy in the market and shall
accordingly continue to communicate
with its shareholders and the market by
way of the Annual Report and Financial
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Statements, by publishing its results
on a six-monthly basis during the year
and through the directors’ statements
published on a six-monthly basis, and by
company announcements to the market
in general. During 2018, the Company also
communicated to the market through
brokers on two occasions. The Company
recognises the importance of maintaining
a dialogue with the market to ensure that
its strategies and performance are well
understood and disclosed to the market in
a timely manner.
The Company’s website
(www.medservenergy.com) also contains
information about the Company and
its business which is a source of further
information to the market.
PRINCIPLE 11: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The directors are aware that their
primary responsibility is always to act
in the interest of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole irrespective of
who appointed them to the Board. Acting
in the interest of the Company includes
an obligation to avoid conflicts of interest.
In such instances, the Company has strict
policies in place which allow it to manage
such conflicts, actual or potential, in the
best interest of the Company.
PRINCIPLE 12: CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
The Company places substantial
importance on its corporate social
responsibility to behave ethically and
contribute to economic development while
improving the quality of life of the work
force and their families as well as of the
local community and society at large. The
Company is fully aware of its obligation to
preserving the environment and continues
to implement policies aimed at respecting
the natural environment and to avoiding/
minimising pollution. During the year under
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review, the Company contributed to many
initiatives supporting the environment,
including the donation of Medserv
branded re-usable bottles to Cypriot
countryside schools with a view to raising
awareness for the reduction in plastic
waste.
The Company also donated funds
towards L-Istrina 2018, the Pink October
Awareness Campaign, the AAA Sanctuary
and the KERALA Flood Relief, a project
aimed at supporting at least 50,000 flood
victims to fight against the scenario
created by the floods in Kerala. The
Company has organised a blood donation
day with the Malta Blood Donation Centre
and has donated food to the Malta Food
Bank. The team in Cyprus also organised
a contribution of medicine, food and
clothing towards the Greece AID after
a series of wildfires left a number of
casualties and many without homes.
The Company firmly believes in the
contribution of sports in maintaining the
wellbeing of its employees and to this end,
the Company sponsored the participation
by its employees in The Grid and this
year’s edition of the World Company
Sports Games +40 Category, held in La
Baule-Escoublac in France.
During the month of March, the
Company also organised a campaign
aimed at bringing awareness and fighting
sexual harassment.
The Company promotes open
communication with its workforce,
responsibility and personal development.
The Company maintains a staff
development programme aimed at
providing training to staff to assist their
development with an aim to improve the
Company’s competitiveness
and efficiency.

36

02
NonCompliance
with the code

Annual Report 2018

PRINCIPLE 2 - CODE PROVISION 2.3
Whilst steps have been taken by
the Company to segregate the office of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
through the appointment of Mr Karl
Bartolo as Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, the Chairman of the Company is
not considered to meet the independence
criteria set out in the Listing Rules largely
due to executive role within the Group
(being responsible for strategy) and also
being one of the major shareholders of
the Company . The Board considers that
Mr Diacono duly fulfils the role required
of a Chairman in terms of the Listing
Rules, notwithstanding his lack of formal
independence.
PRINCIPLE 7 – CODE PROVISION 7.1
EVALUATION COMMITTEE
The Board has not appointed an
ad hoc committee to evaluate its own
performance. As set out above, the
evaluation was conducted through a
questionnaire and considers this to
be a process sufficient to evaluate the
performance of the board.
PRINCIPLE 8B (NOMINATION COMMITTEE)
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association, the appointment of directors
to the Board is reserved exclusively to
the Company’s shareholders (in line also
with general and commonly accepted
practice in Malta). Any shareholder/s
who in the aggregate hold not less than
0.5% of the total number of issued shares
having voting rights in the Company
is entitled to nominate a fit and proper
person for appointment as a director of
the Company. Furthermore, in terms of the
memorandum and articles of association
of the Company, the directors themselves
are entitled to make recommendations
and nominations to the shareholders for
the appointment of directors at the next
following annual general meeting.
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Within this context, the Board believes
that the setting up of a Nomination
Committee is not required since the Board
itself has the authority to recommend
and nominate directors. Notwithstanding
this, the Board will retain under review
the issue relating to the setting up of a
Nomination Committee.
CODE PROVISION 9.3
The Company does not have a formal
mechanism in place as required by Code
provision 9.3 to resolve conflicts between
minority shareholders and controlling
shareholders. No such conflicts have
arisen to date and in view of the relatively
small shareholder base of the Company,
the Board does not consider it necessary
to establish a formal mechanism for
this process.
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Internal
Control

The Board is ultimately responsible
for the Company's system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Such a system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate risk to achieve
business objectives, and can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against normal business risks or loss.
Included with the Company’s internal
control system are procedures to identify,
control and report major risks within a
relevant timeframe. Financial reporting
is prepared monthly and consolidated
quarterly which performance is analysed
against budgets and shared with
senior management and directors. The
Board reviews the effectiveness of the
Company's system of internal controls.
The Company strengthens this function
through the Audit Committee that has
initiated a business risk monitoring plan,
the implementation of which is regularly
monitored.
The key features of the Company’s
system of internal control are as follows:

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
The Company is committed to the
highest standards of business conduct
and seeks to maintain these standards
across all of its operations. Company
policies and employee procedures are in
place for the reporting and resolution of
improper activities.
The Company has an appropriate
organisational structure for planning,
executing, controlling and monitoring
business operations in order to achieve
Company objectives.
Company executives participate
in periodic strategic reviews, which
include consideration of long-term
projections and the evaluation of business
alternatives. Annual budgets and strategic
plans are prepared. Performance against
these plans is actively monitored and
reported to the Board, at minimum on a
quarterly basis.
RISK IDENTIFICATION

ORGANISATION
The Company operates through
the Chief Executive Officer with clear
reporting lines and delegation of
powers. Whilst members of the senior
management of the Group are in constant
contact, formal management meetings
are scheduled on a monthly basis. They
are attended by the Chief Executive
Officer and senior executive management
and other members of staff, upon
invitation.

Company management is responsible
for the identification and evaluation of
key risks applicable to their respective
areas of business. The mandate of the
Audit Committee and the Financial Risk
Management Committee also includes the
continuous assessment and oversight of
such key risks.
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Listing Rule
5.97.5

The information required by this Listing
Rule is found in the Directors’ Report.

General
Meetings and
Shareholders’
Rights

CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS
It is only shareholders whose details
are entered into the register of members
on the record date that are entitled to
participate in the general meeting and to
exercise their voting rights. In terms of the
Listing Rules, the record date falls 30 days
immediately preceding the date set for the
general meeting to which it relates. The
establishment of a record date and the
entitlement to attend and vote at general
meeting does not, however, prevent trading
in the shares after the said date.
In order for business to be transacted
at a general meeting, a quorum must
be present. In terms of the Articles of
Association, 51% of the nominal value of
the issued equity securities entitled to
attend and vote at the meeting constitutes
a quorum. If within half an hour, a quorum
is not present, the meeting shall stand
adjourned to the same day the next
week, at the same time and place or
to such other day and at such other
time and place as the directors may
determine. In any event, the adjourned
meeting must be held at least ten days
after the final convocation is issued and
no new item must be put on the agenda
of such adjourned meeting. If at the
adjourned meeting a quorum is not yet
present within half an hour from the time
appointed for the meeting, the member
or members present shall constitute a
quorum. Generally, the Chairman of the
Board presides as Chairman at every
general meeting of the Company. At the
commencement of any general meeting,
the Chairman may, subject to applicable
law, set the procedure which shall be

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

adopted for the proceedings of that
meeting. Such procedure is binding on the
members.
If the meeting consents or requires,
the Chairman shall adjourn a quorate
meeting to discuss the business left
unattended or unfinished. If a meeting
is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice
of the quorate meeting must be given
as in the case of an original meeting.
Otherwise, it is not necessary to give any
notice of an adjourned meeting or of the
business to be transacted at such quorate
meeting.
At any general meeting, a resolution
put to a vote shall be determined and
decided by a show of hands, unless a poll
is demanded before or on the declaration
of the result of a show of hands by;
(i) the Chairman of the meeting; or
(ii) by at least three (3) members present
in person or by proxy; or
(iii) any member or members present in
person or by proxy and representing not
less than one tenth of the total voting
power of all members having the right to
vote at that meeting; or
(iv) a member or members present
in person or by proxy holding equity
securities conferring a right to vote at
the meeting, being equity securities on
which an aggregate sum has been paid
up equal to not less than one-tenth of
the total sum paid up on all the equity
securities conferring that right.
Unless a poll is so demanded, a
declaration by the Chairman that a
resolution has, on a show of hands, been
carried or carried unanimously, or by a
particular majority, or lost together with
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Listing Rule
5.97.5
(Contd)

General
Meetings and
Shareholders’
Rights
(Contd)

an entry to that effect in the minute book,
shall constitute conclusive evidence of
the fact without need for further proof. If
a resolution requires a particular majority
in value, in order for the resolution to pass
by a show of hands, there must be present
at that meeting a member or members
holding in the aggregate at least the
required majority. A poll demanded on the
election of the Chairman or on a question
of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A
poll demanded on any other question shall
be taken at the discretion of the Chairman.
In the case of equality of votes, whether on
a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman
has a second or casting vote. On a show
of hands every member present in person
or by proxy shall have one vote for each
equity security carrying voting rights of
which he is the holder, provided that all
calls or other sums presently payable by
him in respect of equity securities have
been paid.
PROXY
Every member is entitled to appoint
one person to act as proxy holder to
attend and vote at a general meeting
instead of him. The proxy holder shall
enjoy the same rights to participate in
the general meeting as those to which
the member thus represented would be
entitled. If a member is holding shares
for and on behalf of third parties, such
member shall be entitled to grant a
proxy to each of his clients or to any third
party designated by a client and the said
member is entitled to cast votes attaching
to some of the shares differently from the
others. In the case of voting by a show of
hands, a proxy who has been mandated
by several members and instructed to
vote by some shareholders in favour of a
resolution and by others against the same
resolution shall have one vote for and one
vote against the resolution.

The instrument appointing a proxy
must be deposited at the office or by
electronic mail at the address specified
in the notice convening the meeting not
less than forty-eight (48) hours before
the time for holding the meeting or, in the
case of a poll, not less than forty-eight (48)
hours before the time appointed for the
taking of the poll. The same applies to the
revocation of the appointment of a proxy.
A form of instrument of proxy shall
be in such form as may be determined
by the directors and which would allow a
member appointing a proxy to indicate
how he would like his proxy to vote in
relation to each resolution.
INCLUDING ITEMS ON THE AGENDA
A shareholder or shareholders holding
not less than 5% of the issued share
capital may include items on the agenda
of the general meeting and table draft
resolutions for items included on the
agenda of a general meeting. Such right
must be exercised by the shareholder at
least 46 days before the date set for the
general meeting to which it relates.
QUESTIONS
Shareholders have the right to ask
questions which are pertinent and related
to the items on the agenda.
ELECTRONIC VOTING
In terms of the Articles of Association
of the Company, the directors may
establish systems to:
a) allow persons entitled to attend
and vote at general meetings of the
Company to do so by electronic means in
accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules; and
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Listing Rule
5.97.5

b) allow for votes on a resolution on a poll
to be cast in advance.

(Contd)

Where a shareholder requests the
Company to publish a full account of a
poll, the Company is required to publish
the information on its website not later
than 15 days after the general meeting at
which the result was obtained.

General
Meetings and
Shareholders’
Rights
(Contd)

During the year under review, the
Committee was composed of Mr Joseph
Zammit Tabona (Chairman), Mr Joseph FX
Zahra and Dr Laragh Cassar, all of whom
are non-executive directors. Mr Joseph FX
Zahra and Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona are
considered to be independent directors.

are designed to attract appropriate
quality executives to ensure the efficient
management of the Company. The
payment of a variable remuneration
has become increasingly important in
attracting and maintaining quality staff.
During the current year under review,
there have been no significant changes
in the Company’s remuneration policy
and no significant changes are intended
to be affected thereto in the year ahead.
The terms and conditions of employment
of each individual within the executive
team are set out in their respective
indefinite contracts of employment with
the Company. The Company’s senior
executives may be paid a bonus by the
Company – the payment and extent of
payment of such bonus is entirely at the
discretion of the Board, subject to the
recommendation of the Committee and
is based upon the performance of the
individual determined in terms of both
objective as well as subjective criteria.
Moreover, share options and profitsharing are currently not part of the
Company’s remuneration policy. Specific
criteria for determining the extent of
senior executive’s entitlement to a bonus
will be formulated by the Remuneration
Committee in due course.

During 2018, the Remuneration
Committee met once to discuss and
set the salaries and bonuses for senior
management.

The Company has opted not to
disclose the amount of remuneration paid
to its senior executives on the basis that it
is commercially sensitive.

Further details on the conduct of a
general meeting and shareholders’ rights
are contained in the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company
and in line with chapter 12 of the Listing
Rules.
REMUNERATION STATEMENT
The Remuneration Committee oversees
the development and implementation of
the remuneration and related policies of
the Medserv group of companies.

REMUNERATION POLICY – SENIOR
EXECUTIVES
The Board determines the framework
of the overall remuneration policy and
individual remuneration arrangements
for its senior executives based on the
recommendations from the Remuneration
Committee. The Committee considers
that these remuneration packages,
inclusive of a variable and non-variable
payment, reflect market conditions and
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Listing Rule
5.97.5
(Contd)

General
Meetings and
Shareholders’
Rights

REMUNERATION POLICY – DIRECTORS
The Board determines the framework
of the remuneration policy for the
members of the Board as a whole,
based on the recommendations from
the Remuneration Committee. The
maximum annual aggregate emoluments
that may be paid to the directors is
approved by the shareholders in General
Meeting. The financial statements

(Contd)

Signed on behalf
of the Board of
Directors on 30
April 2019 by:

Joseph F X Zahra
Director and Chairman of
Audit Committee
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disclose an aggregate figure in respect
of the remuneration as directors of
which with respect to the period under
review amounted to €90,000 (entirely
representing a fixed remuneration).
Directors’ emoluments are designed to
reflect the directors’ knowledge of the
business and time committed as directors
to the Company’s affairs.

Financial
Statements

02

For the year
Ended December 2018
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Statements of
Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018
THE GROUP
		
2018
2017*

THE COMPANY
2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Property, plant and equipment

13

33,200,767

31,883,439

-

-

Intangible assets and goodwill

15

13,162,169

14,499,708

-

-

Trade and other receivables

18

-

483,294

-

-

6

636,158

954,239

-

-

Investments in subsidiaries

14

-

-

13,418,743

13,407,096

Receivables from subsidiaries

18

-

-

49,262,955

48,903,247

Right-of-use assets

28

78,335,057

75,895,472

-

-

Deferred tax assets

16

9,418,534

9,265,525

-

-

132,981,677

62,681,698

62,310,343

Assets

Contract costs

Total non-current assets		
134,752,695

17

1,274,704

1,247,944

-

-

Current tax assets		

755

2,712

755

2,712

18

14,730,612

14,225,843

12,049,301

9,414,847

6

334,299

378,593

-

-

Contract assets		

67,775

802,611

-

-

5,616,232

3,633,763

15,916

704,909

20,291,466

12,065,972

10,122,468

Total assets		
156,777,072
153,273,143

74,747,670

72,432,811

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Contract costs

Cash at bank and in hand

26

Total current assets		
22,024,377

* The Group and the Company have initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.
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THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017*

2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Share capital

19

5,374,441

5,374,441

5,374,441

5,374,441

Share premium

19

12,003,829

12,003,829

12,003,829

12,003,829

(Accumulated losses)/
retained earnings

19

(8,215,519)

1,151,793

(695,423)

(465,330)

Other reserves

19

10,186,890

9,720,643

-

-

28,250,706

		
16,682,847

16,912,940

(151,958)

-

-

18,696,715

28,098,748

16,682,847

16,912,940

Equity

Equity attributable to		
owners of the Company		
19,349,641
Non-controlling interests		
(652,926)

Total equity
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings

22

54,028,322

50,792,518

50,053,057

49,570,640

Employee benefits

24

819,163

614,303

-

-

Deferred income

21

31,851,634

32,631,548

-

-

Lease liabilities

28

28,682,854

25,054,810

-

-

Provisions

23

-

600,552

-

-

Deferred tax liabilities

16

6,485,536

6,017,396

-

-

Total non-current liabilities		
121,867,509

115,711,127

50,053,057

49,570,640

THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

* The Group and the Company have initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.
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THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017*

2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

22/26

3,209,219

865,083

-

-

Current tax liabilities		

37,176

512

-

-

Bank overdraft

Loans and borrowings

22

2,075,411

1,181,635

-

-

Trade and other payables

25

8,145,393

5,663,865

8,011,776

5,949,231

Deferred income

21

875,533

775,533

-

-

Lease liabilities

28

1,825,925

841,670

-

-

Provisions

23

44,191

40,566

-

-

Employee benefits

24

-

94,404

-

-

9,463,268

8,011,776

5,949,231

Total liabilities		
138,080,357
125,174,395

58,064,823

55,519,871

74,747,670

72,432,811

Total current liabilities		
16,212,848

Total equity and liabilities		
156,777,072

153,273,143

* The Group and the Company have initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.
The notes on pages 56 to 144 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 44 to 55 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30
April 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Anthony S. Diacono

Anthony J. Duncan

Chairman

Director
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2018
THE GROUP
		
2018
2017*

THE COMPANY
2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Revenue

6

36,187,199

28,777,143

-

-

Cost of sales

8

(33,639,893)

(26,614,100)

-

-

Gross profit		
2,547,306
2,163,043

-

-

Continuing Operations

Other income

7

2,049,613

817,485

-

-

Administrative expenses

8

(6,067,853)

(6,917,339)

(363,773)

(926,440)

27

(122,645)

-

(69,454)

-

7

(1,867,867)

(158,977)

-

-

Results from operating activities		
(3,461,446)

(4,095,788)

(994,319)

(926,440)

Impairment loss on
financial assets
Other expenses

Finance income

10

9

478,100

3,275,220

3,690,123

Finance costs

10

(5,369,907)

(4,419,299)

(3,103,843)

(3,898,345)

Net finance (costs)/income

10

(5,369,898)

(3,941,199)

171,377

(208,222)

(8,036,987)

(122,942)

(1,134,662)

403,428

(147)

(84)

Loss for the year		
(9,526,894)
(7,633,559)

(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Loss before income tax		
(8,831,344)
Tax (expense)/income

11

(695,550)

Other comprehensive income
Items that are not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Revaluation of right-of-use assets

28

-

16,957,752

-

-

Related tax

16

-

(5,935,213)

-

-

19

(487,867)

1,110,224

-

-

Foreign currency translation 		
differences – foreign operations
19

1,187,253

(2,808,450)

-

-

Other comprehensive income		
699,386

9,324,313

-

-

Total comprehensive income		
(8,827,508)

1,690,754

(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net loss on hedge of net investment
in a foreign operation
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018

THE GROUP
		
2018
2017*

THE COMPANY
2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Owners of the Company		

(9,043,058)

(7,421,180)

(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Non-controlling interests		

(483,836)

(212,379)

-

-

		
(9,526,894)
7,633,559
(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Loss attributable to:

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company		

(8,317,828)

1,896,300

(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Non-controlling interests		

(509,680)

(205,546)

-

-

		
(8,827,508)
1,690,754
(123,089)

(1,134,746)

Earnings per share
Basic Earnings per share
Adjusted earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation
(adjusted EBITDA)

20

(16c8)

(13c8)

12

7,318,591

4,329,719

(0c2)

(2c1)

* The Group and the Company have initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated except for separately presenting impairment losses on financial
assets. See Note 2.5.1.
The notes on pages 56 to 144 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

-

5,374,441

Total comprehensive income		

Balance at 31 December 2017		

(1,656,630)

(2,815,283)

(2,815,283)

-

1,158,653

€

11,022,539

11,022,539

11,022,539

-

-

€

354,734

1,110,224

1,110,224

-

(755,490)

€

1,151,793

(7,421,180)

-

(7,421,180)

8,572,973

€

28,250,706

1,896,300

9,317,480

(7,421,180)

26,354,406

€

(151,958)

(205,546)

6,833

(212,379)

53,588

€

The notes on pages 10 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen, comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.

12,003,829

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income		

12,003,829

-

5,374,441

€

Loss		
-

Total comprehensive income

Balance at 1 January 2017*		

		
€

									
Non		
Share
Share
Translation
Revaluation
Hedging
Retained		 controlling
		
capital
premium
reserve
reserve
reserve
earnings
Total
interest

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Statement of Changes in
Equity – The Group

28,098,748

1,690,754

9,324,313

(7,633,559)

26,407,994

€

Total
equity

Financial Statements
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

5,374,441

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018		

-

-

Other comprehensive income		

Total comprehensive income		

-

5,374,441

Transfers between reserves 		

Balance at 31 December 2018		

12,003,829

-

-

-

-

-

12,003,829

-

12,003,829

€

(445,533)

-

-

1,213,097

1,213,097

-

(1,656,630)

-

(1,656,630)

€

10,763,556

(258,983)

-

-

-

-

11,022,539

-

11,022,539

€

(133,133)

-

-

(487,867)

(487,867)

-

354,734

-

354,734

€

(8,215,520)

258,983

-

(9,043,058)

-

(9,043,058)

568,556

(583,237)

1,151,793

€

19,349,641

-

-

(8,317,828)

725,230

(9,043,058)

27,667,469

(583,237)

28,250,706

€

(652,926)

-

8,712

(509,680)

(25,844)

(483,836)

(151,958)

-

(151,958)

€

The notes on pages 10 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

* The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen, comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.

-

Dilution of non-controlling interest		
without a change in control

Transactions with owners
of the Company
Change in ownership interest

-

Loss		

Total comprehensive income

-

5,374,441

Adjustment on initial application of		
IFRS 9, net of tax*		

Balance at 1 January 2018		
as previously reported

		€

									Non		
Share
Share
Translation
Revaluation
Hedging
Retained		
controlling
		 capital
premium
reserve
reserve
reserve
earnings
Total
interest

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Statement of Changes in Equity – The Group

18,696,715

-

8,712

(8,827,508)

699,386

(9,526,894)

27,515,511

(583,237)

28,098,748

€

Total
equity
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Statement of Changes in
Equity – The Company
For the year ended 31 December 2018

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

		
Share
Share
capital
premium

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

		

€

€

€

€

Balance at 1 January 2017*		

5,374,441

12,003,829

669,416

18,047,686

Total comprehensive income
Loss		
			

(1,134,746)

(1,134,746)

Balance at 31 December 2017		

5,374,441

12,003,829

(465,330)

16,912,940

Balance at 1 January 2018		

5,374,441

12,003,829

(465,330)

16,912,940

Adjustment on initial application of
IFRS 9, net of tax		

-

-

(107,000)

(107,000)

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018		

5,374,441

12,003,829

(572,330)

16,805,940

-

-

(123,093)

(123,093)

5,374,441

12,003,829

(695,423)

16,682,847

Total comprehensive income
Loss		
Balance at 31 December 2018		

* The Company has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen, comparative
information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.
The notes on pages 56 to 144 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of
Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

			

THE GROUP

			

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017*

2018

2017*

		
€
€

€

€

(7,633,559)

(123,092)

(1,134,746)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation		
7,874,498

5,646,216

-

-

Reversal of deferred income		

(875,533)

(775,533)

-

-

Gain on lease modification		

(342,131)

-

-

-

Amortisation of intangible assets		

1,472,987

1,666,012

-

-

Amortisation of signing bonus		

450,613

1,113,279

-

-

Impairment losses on trade
receivables, contract assets and
related party receivables		

122,245

8,345

(69,454)

537,921

Impairment losses on property, plant
and machinery

1,598,906

-

-

-

Tax (expense)/income 		

695,550

(403,428)

147

84

Exchange differences		

154,896

104,295

-

-

Provision for discounted future		
gratuity payments

1,716

(1,434)

-

-

268,961

111,899

-

-

5,369,907

3,941,199

(171,377)

208,222

-

-

(11,647)

12,127

		7,265,916

3,777,291

(375,423)

(376,392)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year		

Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment		
Net finance costs / (income)
(Reversal of) / Impairment losses		
on investments in subsidiaries
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(9,526,894)
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Statements of
Cash Flows (contd)
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THE GROUP

			

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017*

2018

2017*

		
€
€

€

€

-

Change in inventories		

(26,760)

(144,550)

-

(504,768)

(49,716)

-

Change in contract costs		

-

1,333,192

-

-

Change in contracts assets		

-

802,611

-

-

Change in trade and other payables

2,481,527

(1,153,289)

94,201

60,936

Change in related party balances		

-

-

31,400

1,449,258

Change in provisions and		
employee benefits

(486,471)

-

-

-

Cash generated from/(absorbed by)
operating activities

8,729,444

4,565,539

(249,822)

1,133,802

Bank interest paid		

146,947

(35,284)

-

-

Bank interest received		

1,946

-

-

-

Tax paid		

(39,271)

(4,873)

1,810

(1,231)

Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities carried forward		

8,839,066

4,525,382

(248,012)

1,132,571

Change in trade and other receivables
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Statements of
Cash Flows (contd)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

		
THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017*

THE COMPANY
2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities carried forward		

8,167,634

4,525,382

(247,712)

1,132,571

(300,000)

(300,000)

Cash flows from investing activities					
Advances to subsidiaries		
Receipts from disposal of property,
plant and equipment		

327,108

135,000

Acquisition of property, plant 		
and equipment

(6,883,846)

(2,604,011)

-

-

Bank interest received		

9

4,499

9

2,929

Interest received from subsidiaries		

-

-

2,485,503

2,485,503

(6,556,729)

(2,464,512)

2,185,512

2,188,432

Cash flows from financing activities
Loan advanced by bank		

5,101,502

1,000,000

-

-

Repayments of bank loans		

(1,463,019)

(1,230,458)

-

-

Interest paid on bank loans		

(146,947)

(55,511)

-

-

Interest paid on notes		

(2,650,626)

(2,662,679)

(2,626,493)

(2,662,678)

Payment of lease liabilities		

(3,187,177)

(2,082,114)

-

-

-

-

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Funds brought in by
shareholders		
1,298,363

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

-

55

Financial Statements

Statements of
Cash Flows (contd)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

		

THE GROUP

		2018

THE COMPANY
2017*

2018

2017*

Note

€

€

€

€

Net cash used in/(from)		
financing activities

(2,346,268)

(5,030,762)

(2,626,493)

(2,662,678)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash		
and cash equivalents		

(63,930)

(2,969,892)

(688,993)

658,325

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		

2,768,680

6,217,782

704,909

46,584

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations		
on cash held

(297,737)

(479,210)

-

-

(2,407,013)

2,768,680

15,916

704,909

Cash and cash equivalents

26

* The Group and the company has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated. See Note 2.5.1.
The notes on pages 56 to 144 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to
Financial Statements
For the year ended
31 December 2018

0I
Reporting
entity

02
Basis of
preparation

Medserv p.l.c. (the “Company”) is a
public liability company domiciled and
incorporated in Malta. The principal
activity of the Company is that of a
holding company (see note 14).
The consolidated financial statements
of the Company as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2018 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together

2.1 / STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated and separate
financial statements (the “financial
statements”) have been prepared
and presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU. All
references in these financial statements
to IAS, IFRS or SIC / IFRIC interpretations
refer to those adopted by the EU. These
financial statements have also been drawn
up in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386,
Laws of Malta) (the “Act”).
Article 4 of Regulation 1606/2002/
EC requires that, for each financial year
starting on or after 1 January 2005,

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

referred to as the “Group” and individually
as “Group entities”). The Group is
primarily involved in providing integrated
shore base logistics to the offshore oil
and gas market operating mainly in the
Mediterranean basin and integrated oil
country tubular goods (OCTG) services to
the onshore oil and gas market operating
in the Middle East.

companies governed by the law of an
EU Member State shall prepare their
consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU
if, at their reporting date, their securities
are admitted to trading on a regulated
market of any EU Member State.
Details of the Group’s accounting
policies are included in Note 3. This is
the first set of the financial statements
in which IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
has been applied. Changes to significant
accounting policies are described in
note 2.5.
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2.2 / BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis,
except for right-of-use assets which are
measured at revalued amounts.

•

Note 15 / impairment test of intangible
assets and goodwill: key assumptions
underlying recoverable amounts;

•

Note 16 / recognition of deferred tax
assets: availability of future taxable
profit against which deductible
temporary differences and investment
tax credits, tax losses, capital
allowances carried forward can be
utilised; and

•

Note 18.7 / measurement of ECL
allowance for loans receivable
from subsidiary: key assumptions
underlying ECL allowance.

2.3 / FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION
CURRENCY
These financial statements are
presented in euro (€), which is the
Company’s functional currency.
2.4 / USE OF ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS
In preparing these financial
statements, management has made
judgements and estimates that affect
the application of Group’s accounting
policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised prospectively.
Information about judgements made
in applying accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements
and information about assumptions and
estimation uncertainties at 31 December
2018 that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the next financial year is included in the
following notes:
•

Note 13 / impairment test of property,
plant and equipment of Company’s
subsidiaries, Middle East Tubular
Services Limited and Middle East
Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited: key
assumptions underlying recoverable
amounts;

2.5 / CHANGE IN SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has initially applied
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (see 2.5.1)
from 1 January 2018. A number of other
new standards are effective from 1
January 2018, but they do not have
a material effect on these financial
statements.
The Group has early adopted
IFRS 15 Revenues from customers and
IFRS 16 Leases with a date of initial
application of 1 January 2017 and
accodingly adjustments have already
been reflected in the corresponding
period.
Due to the transition methods chosen
by the Group in applying IFRS 9
comparative information throughout
these financial statements has not been
restated to reflect the requirements of
the new standard, except for separately
presenting impairment loss on financial
assets. The effect of initially applying
this standard is mainly attributed to an
increase in impairment losses recognised
on financial assets (See 2.5.1).
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2.5.1 / IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for
recognising and measuring financial
assets, financial liabilities and some
contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items. This standard replaces IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.
As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9,
the Group has adopted consequential
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements, which require
impairment of financial assets to be
presented in a separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
Previously, the Group and Company’s
approach was to include the impairment
of financial assets in ‘administrative
expenses’. Consequently, the Group
reclassified impairment losses amounting
to €537,921, recognised under IAS 39, from
'administrative expenses' to 'impairment

loss on financial assets’ in the statement
of profit or loss and OCI for the year
ended 31 December 2017. Impairment
losses on other financial assets are
presented under 'finance costs', similar
to the presentation under IAS 39, and not
presented separately in the statement of
profit or loss and OCI due to materiality
considerations.
Additionally, the Group has adopted
consequential amendments to IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures that
are applied to disclosures about 2018
but have not been generally applied to
comparative information.
The following table summarises the
impact, net of tax, of transition to IFRS
9 on the opening balance of reserves,
retained earnings and NCI (for a
description of the transition method, see
2.5.1.4).

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
			
		
THE GROUP
THE COMPANY
			
Note
€
€
			
Retained earnings			
Recognition of expected
credit losses under IFRS 9		

877,093

107,000

Related tax		
(293,896)
		
Impact at 1 January 2018

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

2.5.1.2

583,237

-

107,000
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2.5.1.1 / Classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal
classification categories for financial
assets: measured at amortised cost, Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive
Income (FVOCI) and Fair Value Through
Profit or Loss (FVTPL). The classification of
financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally
based on the business model in which
a financial asset is managed, and its
contractual cash flow characteristics. IFRS
9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories
of held to maturity, loans and receivables,
and available for sale. Under IFRS 9,
derivatives embedded in contracts where
the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard, are never separated. Instead,
the hybrid financial instrument as a whole
is assessed for classification.
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing
requirements in IAS 39 for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had
a significant effect on the Group’s
accounting policies related to financial
liabilities.
For an explanation of how the Group
classifies and measures financial
instruments and accounts for related
gains and losses under IFRS 9, see Note
3.3.
The following table and the
accompanying notes below explain
the original measurement categories
under IAS 39 and the new measurement
categories under IFRS 9 for each class of
the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 1 January 2018.
The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the
carrying amounts of financial assets at
1 January 2018 relates solely to the new
impairment requirements.

				
THE GROUP
				
Original
New
		
Original
New
carrying
carrying
		
classification classification
amount
amount
		
under
under
under
under
		
IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9
					
Note			
€
€

Financial assets					
Trade and
18
other receivables		

Loans
and receivables

Amortised 14,709,137 13,842,308
cost		

Cash at bank and
26
in hand		

Loans
and receivables

Amortised
cost

3,663,763

3,653,499

Contract assets
6
Loans
Amortised
		
and receivables
cost

802,611

802,611

Total financial assets				

19,175,511

18,298,418
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2.5.1.1 / Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (Contd)

				THE GROUP
				
Original
New
		
Original
New
carrying
carrying
		
classification
classification
amount
amount
		
under
under
under
under
		
IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9
					
Note			
€
€
				
Financial liabilities					
					
Lease liabilities
28
Other
Other
25,896,480
25,896,480
		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities

Secured bank loans
22
Other
Other
		
financial
financial
liabilities
liabilities

1,221,877

1,221,877

Secured notes
22
Other
Other
		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities

19,862,674

19,862,674

Unsecured notes
22
Other
Other
		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities

29,707,967

29,707,967

Trade and other
25
Other
Other
payables		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities

5,663,865

5,663,865

Bank overdraft
26
Other
Other
865,083
865,083
		
financial
financial			
		
liabilities
liabilities

Total financial liabilities				
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83,217,946

83,217,946
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2.5.1.1 / Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (Contd)

				
THE COMPANY
				
Original
New
		
Original
New
carrying
carrying
		
classification
classification
amount
amount
		
under
under
under
under
		
IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9
					
Note			
€
€
				
Financial assets
					
Trade and other
18
Loans and
Amortised
9,414,847
8,414,847
receivables		
receivables
cost
Receivables from
14
Loans and
subsidiaries		
receivables

Amortised
48,903,247
48,796,247
cost		

Cash at bank
26			
and in hand
			
Total financial assets				

704,909

704,909

59,023,003

58,916,003

Note			
€

€

Financial liabilities					
				
Secured notes
22
Other
Other
19,862,674
19,862,674
		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities
Unsecured notes
22
Other
Other
		
financial
financial
		
liabilities
liabilities

29,707,967

29,707,967

Other
financial
liabilities

5,949,231

5,949,231

Total financial liabilities				

55,519,872

55,519,872

Trade and other
25
Other
payables		
financial
liabilities

Trade and other receivables that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS
39 are now classified at amortised cost. An increase of €98,545 for the Group and an
increase of €Nil for the Company in the allowance for impairment over these receivables
was recognised in opening retained earnings at 1 January 2018 on transition to IFRS 9.
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2.5.1.1 / Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (Contd)

(Contd)

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets under IAS 39 to the
carrying amounts under IFRS 9 on transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

			
THE GROUP
				
IAS 39 carrying			
amount at 31			
December 2017
Reclassification
Remeasurement

€

€

€

IFRS 9 carrying
amount at 1
January 2018

€

Financial assets				
Amortised cost				
				
Trade and other receivables		-		
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables

14,709,137

Remeasurement			
866,829
Carried forward:				
Amortised cost				13,842,308
Cash and cash equivalents		-		
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables

3,663,763

Remeasurement			
10,264
Carried forward:
Amortised cost				3,653,499
Contract assets
		-		
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables
802,611		
Remeasurement			
Carried forward:				
Amortised cost				802,611

Total assets

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

19,175,511

-

877,093

18,298,418
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2.5.1.1 / Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (Contd)

(Contd)

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets under IAS 39 to the
carrying amounts under IFRS 9 on transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

			
THE COMPANY
				
IAS 39 carrying			
amount at 31			
December 2017
Reclassification
Remeasurement

€

€

€

IFRS 9 carrying
amount at 1
January 2018

€

Financial assets				
Amortised cost				
				
Trade and other receivables
		
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables

9,414,847

-

Remeasurement			
Carried forward:				
Amortised cost				9,414,847
Receivables from Subsidiaries				
				
Trade and other receivables
			
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables

48,903,247

-

Remeasurement			
107,000
Carried forward:				
Amortised cost				48,796,247
Cash at bank and in hand
			
Brought forward:
Loans and receivables

704,909

-

Remeasurement			
Carried forward:				
Amortised cost				704,909
59,023,003

-

107,000

58,916,003
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2.5.1.2 / Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’
model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit
loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment
model applies to financial assets
measured at amortised cost, contract
assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but
not to investments in equity instruments.

Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised
earlier than under IAS 39 (see Note 3.9.1).
The Group has determined that
the application of I FRS 9's impairment
requirements at 1 January 2018 results in
an additional allowance for impairment as
follows.

THE GROUP
THE COMPANY
		
€
€
		
Loss allowance at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39

8,345

537,921

Impairment recognised at 1 January 2018 on:		
Trade and other receivables
Receivables from subsidiaries
Cash at bank

Loss allowance at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9

866,829

-

-

107,000

10,264

-

885,438

644,921

Additional information about how the Group measures the allowance for impairment is
described in Note 27.4.

2.5.1.3 / Hedge accounting
The Group has elected to adopt the
new general hedge accounting model in
IFRS 9. This requires the Group to ensure
that hedge accounting relationships
are aligned with its risk management
objectives and strategy and to apply
a more qualitative and forwardlooking approach to assessing hedge
effectiveness.
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2.5.1.4 / Transition
Changes in accounting policies
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have
been applied retrospectively, except as
described below.

The determination of the business
model assessment within which a
financial asset is held, have been made on
the basis of the facts and circumstances
that existed at the date of initial
application.

(Contd)

The Group has used an exemption not
to restate comparative information for
prior periods with respect to classification
and measurement (including impairment)
requirements. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities resulting from the adoption of
IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings
and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented
for 2017 does not generally reflect the
requirements of IFRS 9, but rather those
of IAS 39.

03

3.1 / BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

3.1.2 / Subsidiaries

3.1.1 / Business combinations

Significant
accounting
policies

The Group accounts for business
combinations using the acquisition
method when control is transferred to the
Group (see note 3.1.2). The consideration
transferred in the acquisition is generally
measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any
goodwill that arises is tested annually for
impairment (see note 3.9). Any gain on a
bargain purchase is recognised in profit
or loss immediately. Transaction costs are
expensed as incurred, except if related to
the issue of debt or equity securities.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled
by the Group. The Group controls an
entity when it is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from
the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

The consideration transferred does not
include amounts related to the settlement
of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognised in profit
or loss.

3.1.3 / Non-controlling interests (NCI)
NCI are measured initially at their
proportionate share of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in
a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.
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3.1.4 / Loss of control

3.2 / FOREIGN CURRENCY

When the Group loses control over
a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any
related non-controlling interest and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in the former subsidiary
is measured at fair value when control is
lost.

3.2.1 / Foreign currency transactions

3.1.5 / Interests in joint venture
A joint venture is an arrangement in
which the Group has joint control, whereby
the Group has rights to the net assets of
the arrangement, rather than rights to its
assets and obligations for its liabilities.
Interests in the joint venture are
accounted for using the equity method.
They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (OCI) of joint
ventures, until the date on which joint
control ceases.
3.1.6 / Transactions eliminated on
consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions,
and any unrealised income and expenses
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised gains
arising from transactions with the joint
ventures are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated to the respective functional
currencies of Group entities at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the reporting
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on
monetary items is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional currency
at the beginning of the period, adjusted
for effective interest and payments
during the period, and the amortised
cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the reporting
period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate
when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in
profit or loss.
However, foreign currency differences
arising from the translation of the
following items are recognised in OCI:
•

financial liabilities denominated in
USD and designated as a hedge of the
net investment in a foreign operation
to the extent that the hedge is
effective (see note 3.2.4); and

•

qualifying cash flow hedges to the
extent the hedges are effective (see
note 3.3.5).
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3.2.2 / Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign
operations, including goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated to the functional currency
at exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated to the functional
currency at exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are
recognised in OCI and presented within
equity in the translation reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is
allocated to NCI. However, if the operation
is a non-wholly owned subsidiary then
the relevant proportion of the translation
difference is allocated to non-controlling
interests. When a foreign operation is
disposed of in its entirety or partially such
that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount
in the translation reserve related to that
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
3.2.3 / Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain nonderivative financial instruments as
hedging instruments in qualifying hedging
relationships. On initial designation of the
hedge, the Group formally documents
the relationship between the hedging
instrument(s) and hedged item(s),
including the risk management objective
and strategy in undertaking the hedge,
together with the method that will be
used to assess the effectiveness of the
hedging relationship. The Group makes an
assessment, both at inception of the hedge
relationship and on an ongoing basis,
of whether the hedging instruments are
expected to be highly effective in offsetting
the changes in the fair value or cash flows
of the respective hedged item(s) during the
period for which the hedge is designated,

and whether the actual results of each
hedge are within a range of 80–125%.
3.2.4 / Hedge of a net investment in
foreign operation
When a non-derivative financial
liability is designated as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation, the effective
portion of changes in the fair value of the
hedging instrument is recognised in OCI
and presented in the translation reserve
within equity. Any ineffective portion
of the changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised immediately in
profit or loss. The amount recognised in
OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment on disposal of
the foreign operation.
3.2.5 / Foreign currency gains and losses
Foreign currency gains and losses
relating to operating activities are
recognised in profit or loss and reported
on a net basis as either “other income” or
“other expenses”, depending on whether
foreign currency movement is in a net
gain or net loss position. Other nonoperating foreign currency gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss and
reported on a net basis as either “finance
income” or “finance costs” depending on
whether foreign currency movement is in
a net gain or net loss position.
3.3 / FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
3.3.1 / Recognition and initial
measurement
Trade receivables are initially
recognised when they are originated.
All other financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) or financial liability, is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not
at FVTPL, transaction costs are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.
3.3.2 / Classification and subsequent
measurement
3.3.2.1 / Financial assets – Policy applicable
from 1 January 2018
On initial recognition, a financial asset
is classified as measured at: amortised
cost; FVOCI – debt investment; FVOCI –
equity investment; or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition
unless the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets, in
which case all affected financial assets
are reclassified on the first day of the first
reporting period following the change in
the business model.
A financial asset is measured at
amortised cost if it meets both of the
following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:

•

it is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

•

its contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as
measured at amortised cost, or FVOCI, as
described above are measured at FVTPL.
On initial recognition, the Group may
irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or at
FVOCI as at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
3.3.2.2 / Financial assets – Business model
assessment: Policy applicable from 1
January 2018
The Group makes an assessment
of the objective of the business model
in which a financial asset is held at a
portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management.
The information considered includes:
•

•

it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

•

its contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at
FVOCI if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:
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the stated policies and objectives
for the portfolio and the operation
of those policies in practice. These
include whether management’s
strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest
rate profile, matching the duration of
the financial assets to the duration
of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows, or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;
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•

how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group’s
management;

Significant
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•

the risks that affect the performance of
the business model (and the financial
assets held within that business model)
and how those risks are managed; and

(Contd)

•

the frequency, volume and timing
of sales of financial assets in prior
periods, the reasons for such sales
and expectations about future sales
activity.

3.3.2.3 / Financial assets – Assessment
whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest: Policy
applicable from 1 January 2018
For the purposes of this assessment,
‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of
the financial asset on initial recognition.
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for
the time value of money and for the credit
risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of
time and for other basic lending risks and
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest, the Group considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This
includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows such that it would
not meet this condition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers:
•

contingent events that would change
the amount or timing of cash flows;

•

terms that may adjust the contractual
coupon rate, including variable-rate
features;

•

prepayment and extension features;
and

•

terms that limit the Group’s claim to
cash flows from specified assets (e.g.
non-recourse features).

A prepayment feature is consistent
with the solely payments of principal
and interest criterion if the prepayment
amount substantially represents unpaid
amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which
may include reasonable additional
compensation for early termination of
the contract. Additionally, for a financial
asset acquired at a discount or premium
to its contractual par amount, a feature
that permits or requires prepayment at
an amount that substantially represents
the contractual par amount plus accrued
(but unpaid) contractual interest (which
may also include reasonable additional
compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if
the fair value of the prepayment feature is
insignificant at initial recognition.
3.3.2.4 / Financial assets – Subsequent
measurement and gains and losses:
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
For financial assets at amortised cost,
these assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit
or loss.
The Company’s financial assets
comprise loans to subsidiaries, cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables. The Group’s financial assets
comprise cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, and contract
assets.
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3.3.2.5 / Financial assets – Policy
applicable before 1 January 2018

3.3.3 / Derecognition
Financial assets

Significant
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The Group classified all its nonderivative financial assets into the loans
and receivables category. Loans and
receivables are financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets
are recognised initially at fair value, plus
any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses.
3.3.2.6 / Financial liabilities – Policy
applicable before 1 January 2018
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The Group derecognises a financial
asset when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the
contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership and it does not retain control
of the financial asset.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as
measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A
financial liability is classified as at FVTPL
if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a
derivative or it is designated as such on
initial recognition. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognised in profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial
liability when its contractual obligations
are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
The Group also derecognises a financial
liability when its terms are modified and
the cash flows of the modified liability
are substantially different, in which case
a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value.

The Company’s financial liabilities
comprise secured and unsecured notes,
secured and unsecured loans and
borrowings and trade and other payables.
The Group’s financial liabilities comprise
lease liabilities, secured and unsecured
notes, loans and borrowings, trade and
other payables, and bank overdraft.

3.3.4 / Offsetting

On derecognition of a financial
liability, the difference between the
carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any noncash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial
liabilities are offset and the net amount
presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right
to set off the amounts and it intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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3.3.5 / Hedge accounting
Net investment hedges – Policy applicable
from and before 1 January 2018
The policy applied in the comparative
information presented for 2017 is similar
to that applied for 2018. When a derivative
instrument or a non-derivative financial
liability is designated as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation, the effective
portion of, for a derivative, changes in the
fair value of the hedging instrument or,
for a non-derivative, foreign exchange
gains and losses is recognised in OCI
and presented in the translation reserve
within equity. Any ineffective portion
of the changes in the fair value of the
derivative or foreign exchange gains and
losses on the non-derivative is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. The amount
recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment on
disposal of the foreign operation.
3.4 / SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital consists of ordinary
shares that are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax
effects.
3.5 / PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
3.5.1 / Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of
the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and

direct labour, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to a
working condition for their intended use,
the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and capitalised borrowing
costs. Purchased software that is
integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that
equipment.
When significant parts of an item
of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components)
of property, plant and equipment.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment is
determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount
of the property, plant and equipment and
is recognised net within “other income” or
“other expenses” in profit or loss.
3.5.2 / Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of
an item of property, plant and equipment
is recognised in the carrying amount of
the item, if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the
component will flow to the Group and
its cost can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. The costs of the dayto-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
3.5.3 / Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of
an asset less its residual value. Significant
components of individual assets are
assessed and if a component has a useful
life that is different from the remainder of
that asset, that component is depreciated
separately.
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Depreciation is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of each
component of an item of property, plant
and equipment. Property developed and
related improvements made on leased

land are depreciated over the shorter of
the land’s lease term and the useful lives
of the building and improvements unless
it is reasonably certain that the Group will
obtain ownership of the land by the end of
the lease term.

Depreciation commences when the item is available for use.

(Contd)

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

buildings and base improvements

3 - 42 years

furniture and fittings

10 years

office and computer equipment

5 years

plant and equipment

8 years

motor vehicles

4 years

cargo carrying units

10 years

photovoltaic farm

20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial
year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

3.6 / INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
3.6.1 / Recognition and measurement
Intangible assets include customer
relationships, licenses, brand and
contractual rights that are acquired by
the Group and have finite useful lives.
Intangible assets acquired as part of
a business combination are measured
at fair value at the date of acquisition
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill that arises upon the
acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the cost of the acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When
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the excess is negative, it is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Subsequent
to initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.
3.6.2 / Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised
only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands,
is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3.6.3 / Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated to write
off the cost of the intangible assets less

their estimated residual values using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives and is generally recognised in
profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortised.
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The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows

(Contd)
customer relationships

10 years

licences

10 years

brand

10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted if appropriate.

3.7 / LEASES
At inception of a contract, the Group
assesses whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. To
assess whether a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Group assess whether:
•

•

the contract involves the use of an
identified asset – this may be specified
explicitly or implicitly and should
be physically distinct or represent
substantially all of the capacity of a
physically distinct asset. If the supplier
has a substantive substitution right,
then the asset is not identified;
the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic
benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and

•

the Group has the right to direct the
use of the asset. The Group has the
right when it has the decision-making
rights that are most relevant to
changing how and for what purpose
the asset is used. In rare cases where
the decision about how and for
what purpose the asset is used is
predetermined:
•

the Group has the right to operate
the asset; or

•

the Group designed the asset in a
way that predetermines how and
for what purpose it will be used.

At inception or on reassessment
of a contract that contains a lease
component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone prices.

74

03
Significant
accounting
policies
(Contd)

Annual Report 2018

3.7.1 / As a lessee
The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, plus any direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently
depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the
earlier of the end of the useful life of the
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term. The estimated useful lives of the
right-of–use assets vaires between 3 and
42 years. In addition, the right-of-use asset
is periodically reduced by impairment
losses, if any, adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.
Subsequent to initial recognition, rightof-use assets that convey to the lessee
rights over the use of land are revalued
periodically, such that its carrying amount
does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using the
fair value at the date of the statement of
financial position. Any surpluses arising on
revaluation are accounted for in terms of
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, and
thus credited to a revaluation reserve. Any
deficiencies from decrease in value are
deducted from this reserve to the extent
that it is sufficient to absorb them, with
any excess charged to profit or loss.
The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group’s
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incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
as the discount rate.
Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability
comprise the following:
•

fixed payments, including insubstance fixed payments;

•

variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

•

amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee; and

•

the exercise price under a purchase
option that the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the
group is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option, and penalties
for early termination of a lease unless
the Group is reasonably certain not to
terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option.
When the lease liability is measured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the rightof-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.
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The Group presents right-of-use
assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property, and lease liabilities,
separately in the statement of financial
position.
3.8 / INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. The cost
of inventories is based on the first-in, firstout principle, and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories and
other costs incurred in bringing them to
their existing location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and
estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
3.9 / IMPAIRMENT

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.
The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
The Group considers a financial asset
to be in default when:
•

the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or

•
Financial instruments and contract assets

the financial asset is more than 90
days past due.

The Group recognises loss allowances
for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on
financial assets at amortised cost.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at
12-month ECLs:

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than
12 months).

3.9.1 / Financial assets
3.9.1.1 / Policy applicable from 1 January
2018

•

bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

The Group measures loss allowances
for trade receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective
interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether financial assets carried
at amortised cost are ‘credit-impaired’.
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable data:
•

significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer;

•

a breach of contract such as a default
or being more than 90 days past due;

•

the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

•

it is probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

3.9.1.2 / Presentation of allowance for ECL
in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets
measured at amortised cost are deducted
from the gross carrying amount of the
assets. Impairment losses related to trade
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and other receivables, including contract
assets, are presented separately in the
Statement of Profit or Loss and OCI.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a
financial asset is written off when the
Group has no reasonable expectations
of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. The Group
individually makes an assessment with
respect to the timing and amount of
write-off on its financial assets based on
whether there is a reasonable expectation
of recovery and with reference to its
historical experience of recoveries. The
Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However,
financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities
in order to comply with the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due.
3.9.1.3 / Policy applicable before 1 January
2018
Financial assets not classified as at
FVTPL were assessed at each reporting
date to determine whether there was
objective evidence of impairment. A
financial asset was impaired If objective
evidence indicated that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset, and that the loss event had a
negative effect on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset that can be
estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial
assets are impaired can include default
or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring
of an amount due to the Group on terms
that the Group would not consider
otherwise, indications that a debtor or
issuer will enter bankruptcy, economic
conditions that correlate with defaults or
the disappearance of an active market for
a security.
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The Group considers evidence of
impairment for receivables at a specific
asset level. All individually significant
receivables are assessed for specific
impairment.
An impairment loss in respect of a
financial asset measured at amortised
cost was calculated as the difference
between an asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. Losses were
recognised in profit or loss and reflected
in an allowance account. When the Group
considered that there were no realistic
prospects of recovery of the asset, the
relevant amounts were written off. If the
amount of impairment loss subsequently
decreased and the decrease was related
objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, then the
previously recognised impairment loss was
reversed through profit or loss.
3.9.2 / Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's
non-financial assets, other than deferred
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill
is tested annually for impairment.
The recoverable amount of an asset
or cash-generating unit (CGU) is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets that cannot be tested
individually are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates
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cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or CGU. Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated
to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.
An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or its related
CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount.
The Group’s corporate assets do not
generate separate cash inflows. If there is
an indication that a corporate asset may
be impaired, then the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU to which the
corporate asset belongs.
The Group's corporate assets do not
generate separate cash inflows. If there is
an indication that a corporate asset may
be impaired, then the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU to which the
corporate asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased
or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the
asset's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.
3.10 / INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Investments in subsidiaries are
shown in the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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3.11 / EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
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The Group contributes towards
the State defined contribution plan in
accordance with local legislation and
to which it has no commitment beyond
the payment of fixed contributions.
Obligations for contributions to the
defined contribution plan are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

(Contd)

3.11.1 / Defined contribution plans

3.11.2 / Other long term employee benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect
of long-term employee benefits is the
amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods. That benefit
is discounted to determine its present
value, and the fair value of any related
assets is deducted. The discount rate is
the yield at the reporting date on German
Government Bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the
Group’s obligations.
3.11.3 / Severance payments
Pursuant to United Arab Emirates
(U.A.E.) and Sultanate of Oman labour
regulations, severance payments have
to be paid on termination of employment
either by the employer or by the employee.
The Group’s net obligation in respect of
this defined benefit obligation is calculated
by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in the current
and prior periods, and discounting that
amount. The calculation of the liability is
performed annually at each reporting date
using the projected unit credit method.
Re-measurement of the liability, which
comprise actuarial gains and losses,
are recognised immediately in OCI. The
Group determines the interest expense
on the liability for the period by applying
the discount rate used to measure the
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obligation at the beginning of the annual
period to the then-net liability, taking
into account any changes in the liability
during the period as a result of payments.
Interest expense is recognised in profit
or loss. The Group recognises gains and
losses on the settlement of a liability when
the settlement occurs.
3.12 / PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised if, as a result
of a past event, the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of discount is recognised as
finance cost.
3.13 / REVENUE
Revenue is measured based on the
consideration specified in a contract with
a customer. The Group recognises revenue
when it transfers control over a product or
service to a customer.
3.13.1 / Performance obligations and
revenue recognition policies
The following is a description of
the principal activities – separated by
reportable segments – from which the
Group generates its revenue. For more
detailed information about reportable
segments, see note 5 Operating Segments.
The Group is engaged in providing
services and support to the offshore oil
and gas industry and OCTG services to
the onshore oil and gas market and as
such is involved in providing support
services that span over a term. Services
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and support provided to the offshore oil
and gas industry consists of integrated
offshore logistics, engineering support
services, mixing and storage of drilling
fluids and waste management services.
OCTG services to the onshore oil and gas
market consists of handling and storage,
inspection and machine shop services
and other ancillary services. In this regard
revenue is recognised and measured as
follows.
3.13.1.1 / Integrated Logistics Support
Services (ILSS)
Logistic support services
The Group performs and provides
logistics services to international oil
companies carrying out offshore drilling
campaigns. The Group delivers fully
integrated supply base services which
connect all the elements of our clients’
logistics and materials management
activities. Logistics support services
include provision of equipment, personnel,
warehousing, quays and land in a certified
facility aimed at supporting offshore oil
and gas drilling activities.
Shore base logistics have been
identified as a series of distinct services
transferred to the customer in the same
pattern, on the basis that both of the
following criteria are met:
•

each distinct service in the series is
satisfied over time; and

•

has a single method of measuring
progress.

As the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes all of the benefits
provided by the entity as the Group
performs, this is a routine or recurring
service and thus revenue is recognised
over time.

Engineering services
The Group through its engineering
division carries out a full range of
essential, non-critical engineering
and technical services for the offshore
platforms and drilling rigs. Services range
from fabric maintenance, corrosion
protection, riser inspection services,
rig repair, technical services and
general fabrication and maintenance.
Engineering services have been identified
as a bundle of distinct goods or services
that form one single obligation. As the
Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created, revenue is recognised
over time.
Supply of goods
The Group is involved in procuring
various goods and supplies to its
customers for use on the offshore rigs and
their supply vessels. Sales are recognised
when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods are delivered to the
customer. Delivery occurs when the goods
have been shipped to the specific location
or loaded onto the client’s vessel, the
risks and rewards have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the goods in accordance
with the sales contract, or the Group
has objective evidence that all criteria
for acceptance have been satisfied.
Generally, for such goods, the customer
has no right of return.
Therefore, revenue from supply of
goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time
that the consideration is unconditional
since only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.
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03

3.13.1.2 / Oil country tubular goods (OCTG)

Repairs of pipes

Storage and handling

Significant
accounting
policies

Storage and handling services have
been identified as distinct on the basis
that the following criteria are met:

Each of the services provided in this
operating segment has been identified
as distinct on the basis that the following
criteria are met:

(Contd)

•

the customer can benefit from
the good or service on its own or
in conjunction with other readily
available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the
service to the customer is separately
identifiable from other promises in the
contract.

As the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes all of the benefits
provided by the entity as the Group
performs, this is a routine or recurring
service and thus revenue is recognised
over time.

the customer can benefit from
the good or service on its own or
in conjunction with other readily
available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the
service to the customer is separately
identifiable from other promises in
the contract.

As the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created, and this
is a routine or recurring service, revenue is
thus recognised over time.
3.13.1.3 / Photovoltaic income

Inspection

Supply of electricity

Inspection services have been
identified as distinct on the basis that the
following criteria are met:

The Group derives part of its revenue
from the sale of solar generated electricity
based on long term Feed-in-Tariffs. The
photovoltaic income has been identified
as a series of distinct services transferred
to the customer in the same pattern, on
the basis that both of the following criteria
are met:

•

the customer can benefit from
the good or services on its own or
in conjunction with other readily
available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the
service to the customer is separately
identifiable from other promises in the
contract.

As the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created, and this
is a routine or recurring service, revenue is
thus recognised over time.
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•

•

each distinct service in the series is
satisfied over time; and

•

has a single method of measuring
progress.

As the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes all of the benefits
provided by the entity as the Group
performs, this is a routine or recurring
service and thus revenue is recognised
over time.
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Significant
accounting
policies
(Contd)

3.13.2 / Determining transaction price and
allocation to performance obligations
The Group’s amount of consideration
which it expects to be entitled to in
exchange for transferring of services
to a customer, is determined on a perservice usage basis and is payable in
accordance with customary payment
terms. Accordingly, a transaction price
is determined separately for each
performance obligation.
3.13.3 / Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in
profit or loss on the date on which the
Company’s right to receive payment
is established.
3.14 / FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE
COSTS
Finance income comprises interest
income recognised on financial assets.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues
in profit or loss, using the effective interest
method.
Finance costs comprise interest
expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs
that are not attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying
asset are recognised in profit or loss using
the effective interest method.
3.15 / GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised in profit
or loss as other income on a systematic
basis in the periods in which the expenses
are recognised.
Government grants related to assets,
including non-monetary grants, are
initially recognised as deferred income at
fair value if there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and the Group

will comply with the conditions associated
with the grant; they are then recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the useful life of the asset and presented
as a deduction from the amortization cost
of the related asset.
3.16 / INCOME TAX
Income tax expense comprises
current and deferred tax. It is recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to a business combination, or
items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.
Current tax comprises the expected
tax payable or receivable on the taxable
income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes,
if any. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.
Current tax assets and liabilities are
offset only if certain criteria are met.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect
of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:
•

temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•

temporary differences related to
investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint arrangements to the extent

82

Annual Report 2018

03
Significant
accounting
policies
(Contd)

•

that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

taxable temporary differences arising
on the initial recognition of goodwill.

3.17 / EARNINGS PER SHARE

Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses, unused tax credits
and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full,
then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business
plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits
improves.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at each reporting date
and recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they
can be used.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates that are expected to be applied to
temporary differences when they reverse,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
The measurement of deferred tax
reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only if certain criteria are met.

The Group presents basic earnings
per share (EPS) data for its ordinary
shares. This EPS is calculated by dividing
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period.
If the number of ordinary or potential
ordinary shares outstanding increases as
a result of a capitalisation, bonus issue
or share split, the calculation of EPS for
all periods presented shall be adjusted
retrospectively.
3.18 / SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component
of the Group that engages in business
activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues
and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Group’s other components.
All operating segments’ operating results
are reviewed regularly by the Board of
Directors, the chief operating decision
maker, to make decisions about resources
to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is available.
Segment results that are reported
to the Board of Directors include items
directly attributable to a segment as
well as those that can be allocated on
a reasonable basis. Unallocated items
comprise mainly the Company’s assets
and liabilities.
Segment capital expenditure is the
total cost incurred during the year to
acquire property, plant and equipment.
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04
Standards
issued but not
yet effective

A number of new standards are
effective for annual periods beginning
after 1 January 2018 and earlier application
is permitted, however, the Group has
not early adopted the new or amended
standards in preparing these consolidated
financial statements.
The following amended standards
and interpretations are not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements:

05
Operating
Segments

5.1 /
The Group has three reportable
segments, as described below, which
represent the Group’s strategic divisions.
These divisions offer different products
and services, and are managed separately

•

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Tax
Treatments

•

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)

•

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2015-2017 Cycle-various
standards

•

Amendments to References to
Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards.

because they require different resources
and marketing strategies. For each of the
strategic divisions, the Board of Directors,
which is the chief operating decision
maker, reviews internal management
reports on a monthly basis.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:

Integrated
logistics support
services

Includes the provision of comprehensive logistical support services
to the offshore oil and gas industry from the Group’s bases in Malta,
Cyprus and Portugal.

Oil country

Includes the provision of an integrated approach to OCTG handling,
inspection, repairs and other ancillary services based in three Middle
East locations, namely U.A.E., Southern Iraq and Sultanate of Oman.

tubular goods

Photovoltaic
farm

Involves the generation of electricity which is sold into the national
grid for a twenty-year period at a price secured under the tariff
scheme regulated by subsidiary legislation S.L. 423.46 in Malta.

Information regarding the results
of each reportable segment is included
below. Performance is measured based
on segment profit before income tax, as
included in the internal management
reports that are reviewed by the Board

of Directors. Segment profit is used to
measure performance as management
believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of
certain segments relative to other entities
that operate within these industries
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2018

2017

PHOTOVOLTAIC
FARM
2018

TOTAL
2017

21,470,012

(2,999,205)
(2,458,385)

(2,474,525)

Inter-segment revenue		

Segment revenue		

Net finance costs		

Depreciation on property, plant		
and equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets		

(6,948,853)
983,628

Reportable segment profit / (loss)
before tax		

Adjusted EBITDA		

		

-

-

INTEGRATED LOGISTICS		

734,164

(4,823,212)

(8,345)

(939,358)

Other material non-cash items:
- amortisation of signing bonus		
- impairment losses on financial assets
- net impairment on property,
plant and equipment		

-

(1,308,956)

(1,974,792)

(2,273,628)

14,507,134

541,061

13,966,073

Amortisation		
-

21,470,012

External revenues		

5,834,266

(1,774,396)

(981,572)

(450,613)
(36,280)

(1,472,987)

(1,037,558)

(1,502,894)

(1,970,013)

14,216,490

-

14,216,490

500,697

(108,095)

-

-

-

-

(208,112)

(400,680)

500,697

-

500,697

526,990

(79,337)

-

-

-

-

(208,110)

(398,217)

526,989

-

526,989

7,318,591

(8,831,345)

(981,572)

(450,613)
(975,638)

(1,472,987)

(3,512,083)

(4,169,391)

(5,369,898)

37,309,510

-

36,187,199

OIL COUNTRY		PHOTOVOLTAIC

3,068,566

(3,134,438)

-

(1,113,279)
-

(1,666,012)

(983,505)

(1,170,854)

(1,269,354)

15,191,205

907,124

14,284,081

4,329,720

(8,036,987)

-

(1,113,279)
(8,345)

(1,666,012)

(2,292,461)

(3,353,756)

(3,941,199)

30,225,328

1,448,185

28,777,143

									
		
€
€
€
€
€
€
€
€

		
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS
OIL COUNTRY
		
SUPPORT SERVICES		
TUBULAR GOODS
					
		
2018
2017
2018
2017

5.2 / INFORMATION ABOUT REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

Operating Segments (Contd)
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2018

2017

PHOTOVOLTAIC
FARM
2018

TOTAL
2017

108,622,307
6,345,266
104,476,048

5,430,252
(6,144,312)
(576,869)

Reportable segment assets		

Capital expenditure		

Reportable segment liabilities		

Operating net cash flows		

Investing net cash flows		

Financing net cash flows		

(3,337,657)

(1,518,143)

2,785,570

76,127,976

1,658,442

108,483,234

(817,143)

(469,687)

2,917,414

27,352,239

538,580

42,470,000

(1,294,889)

(945,569)

1,212,823

42,808,209

945,569

39,032,481

(400,680)

-

500,617

6,277,915

-

3,079,000

(398,216)

-

526,989

6,238,210

-

3,287,117

(1,794,612)

(6,613,999)

8,128,363

138,106,202

6,883,846

154,171,353

(5,030,762)

(2,464,512)

4,525,382

125,174,395

2,604,011

150,802,832

									
		
€
€
€
€
€
€
€
€

		
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS
OIL COUNTRY
		
SUPPORT SERVICES		
TUBULAR GOODS
					
		
2018
2017
2018
2017

5.2 / INFORMATION ABOUT REPORTABLE SEGMENTS (CONTD)

Operating Segments (Contd)
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05
Operating
Segments

5.3 / RECONCILIATION OF REPORTABLE
SEGMENT REVENUES, PROFIT OR LOSS,
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Contd)

			2018
			
			
€

2017
€

Revenues
Total external revenues for reportable segments		

36,187,199

28,777,143

Consolidated revenues			

36,187,199		

28,777,143

Profit or loss
Loss before tax for reportable segments		

(8,831,344)

(8,036,987)

Consolidated loss before income tax

(8,831,344)		

(8,036,987)

		

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments			

154,171,312		150,802,832

Unallocated amounts			

2,605,760

Consolidated total assets			

2,470,311

156,777,072		

153,273,143

Total liabilities for reportable segments			

138,080,357

125,174,395

Consolidated total liabilities			

138,080,357

125,174,395

Liabilities

5.4 / GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
The ILSS segment is managed from
Malta but operates base facilities and/or
offices in Malta, Cyprus, Egypt, Portugal
and Libya. The OCTG segment is managed
from U.A.E. and operates base facilities
in U.A.E., Southern Iraq and Sultanate of
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Oman. In presenting information on the
basis of geographical segments, segment
revenue is based on the geographical
location of customers. Segment assets
are based on the geographical location
of the assets. Non-current assets exclude
goodwill amounting to €2,605,760
(2017: €2,470,311).
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05
Operating
Segments
(Contd)

5.4 / GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (CONTD)

Non-current
		Revenues
assets
		
		
€
€

31 December 2018
Libya		8,301,683

415

Italy		3,108,120

-

Cyprus		5,789,067

8,088,495

Malta		1,228,513

85,225,454

Croatia		8,505

-

Middle East		

14,216,491

38,832,571

Other countries		

3,534,820

-

		
36,187,199
132,146,935
			
31 December 2017
Libya		7,176,395

1,246

Italy		571,183

-

UK		796,621

-

Portugal		652,535

136,196

Cyprus		2,363,824

3,710,738

Malta		2,046,122

93,437,949

South Korea		

673,981

-

Netherlands		212,401

-

Middle East		

14,284,081

33,225,237

		
28,777,143
130,511,366
Group revenues from transactions
with three (2017: three) major external
customers during the year amounted to
approximately €22.1 million (2017: €16.1
million). Revenues are being analysed by
country of incorporation of customers.

SITUATION IN LIBYA
Despite the political instability
in Libya, the impact on the Group’s
operations in Libya remains minimal as
the Group continues servicing normally
the clients’ operations offshore Libya,
which are located 120 kilometers north of
the Libyan coast.
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DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

2018

2017

PHOTOVOLTAIC
FARM
2018

TOTAL
2017

-

Portugal		
1,134,259
652,535

Egypt		
1,637,584
-

14,216,490

-

Cyprus		
5,789,067
2,363,824

		
21,470,012
13,966,073

14,216,490

-

-

-

Middle East		

Malta		
12,909,102
10,949,714

14,284,081

-

-

-

14,284,081

-

500,697

-

-

-

-

500,697

526,989

-

-

-

-

526,989

Primary geographical markets								

36,187,199

1,637,584

1,134,259

5,789,067

14,216,490

13,409,799

28,777,143

-

652,535

2,363,824

14,284,081

11,476,703

									
For the year ended 31 December		
€
€
€
€
€
€
€
€

		
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS
OIL COUNTRY
		
SUPPORT SERVICES		
TUBULAR GOODS
					
		
2018
2017
2018
2017

In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major service lines and timing of revenue
recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with the Group’s reportable segments (see note 5).

6.1 /

Revenue
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DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

2018

2017

PHOTOVOLTAIC
FARM
2018

TOTAL
2017

-

-

Repairs of pipes		

Supply of electricity		

14,216,490

-

1,550,910

1,499,359

14,284,081

-

892,517

1,309,531

12,082,033

500,697

500,697

-

-

-

-

526,989

526,989

-

-

-

-

36,187,199

500,697

1,550,910

1,499,359

13,847,522

1,202,674

1,337,283

13,966,073

2,691,729

21,470,012

Point in time		

12,628,790

18,778,283

Transferred over time		

14,216,490

-

14,216,490

14,284,081

-

14,284,081

500,697

-

500,697

526,989

-

526,989

36,187,199

2,691,729

33,495,470

Timing of revenue recognition								

		
21,470,012
13,966,073

-

-

Inspection		
-

1,787,778

11,166,221

2,681,301

Storage and handling		

-

28,777,143

1,337,283

27,439,860

28,777,143

526,989

892,517

1,309,531

13,869,811

1,608,958

-

1,608,958

1,202,674

2,691,729

Engineering services		

-

1,337,283

-

-

Supplies		
2,691,729
1,337,283

-

9,232,054

Major service lines
								
Logistic support services		
14,894,308
9,232,054
14,894,308

									
For the year ended 31 December		
€
€
€
€
€
€
€
€

		
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS
OIL COUNTRY
		
SUPPORT SERVICES		
TUBULAR GOODS
					
		
2018
2017
2018
2017

6.1 /

Revenue
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6.2 / CONTRACT BALANCES
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract
liabilities from contracts with customers:

Revenue
(Contd)

Receivables, which are included
in ‘trade and other receivables’
Contract assets

The contract assets primarily relate
to the Group’s rights to consideration
for work completed but not billed at the
reporting date on 31 December 2018.

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

€

€

12,824,215

12,298,397

67,775

802,611

The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

6.3 / CONTRACT COSTS
The contract costs include the carrying
amount of a signing bonus amounting
to €954,239 (2017: €1,272,319) granted
to key management personnel of METS
during 2016 subject to vesting period. This
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signing bonus originally amounted to
€1,590,401 and started being amortised
over a period of five years, from the date
of commencement of the contract on 1
January 2017.
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07
Other income
and other
expenses

7.1 / OTHER INCOME
		
THE GROUP
2018
2017
			
Note
€
€
			
Exchange differences		
154,896
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

13

10,560

-

Government grants

21

104,380

4,490

Reversal of deferred income

21

775,533

775,533

13.6

617,478

-

Other income		

24,799

37,462

Reversal of provision

Gain on lease modification		
361,967
			
		
2,049,613
817,485

7.2 / OTHER EXPENSES

		
THE GROUP
2018
2017
			
Note
€
€
			
Loss on disposal of property,
13
268,961
42,828
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

13.6

1,598,906

-

Exchange differences		

-

104,295

Other expenses		

-

11,824

		
1,867,867
158,977
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8.1 /

THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017

THE COMPANY
2018

2017

Note

€

€

€

€

Direct cost of services		

15,530,583

12,174,224

-

-

Consumables

17

8,336

3,531

-

-

Employee benefits

9

8,589,742

6,891,458

-

-

13,28

8,558,513

5,646,216

-

-

Amortisation of intangible assets

15

1,472,987

1,666,013

-

-

Amortisation of signing bonus

18

450,613

1,113,279

-

-

Professional fees		

1,266,799

1,278,083

277,416

258,271

Listing expenses		

89,504

86,986

89,504

86,986

Travelling and telecommunications		

693,804

600,700

2,300

1,148

(Reversal of) impairment losses		
on investments in subsidiaries

-

-

(11,647)

12,127

Repairs and maintenance		

649,150

787,017

-

-

Insurance

644,703

576,956

-

7,503

Security services		

345,956

1 7 1 ,1 41

-

-

Staff welfare		

453,766

655,224

-

-

Other 		

1,695,702

1,880,612

6,200

22,484

Total cost of sales and 		
administrative expenses

39,707,746

33,531,439

363,773

388,519

Cost of sales		

33,639,893

26,614,100

-

-

Adminstrative expenses		

6,067,853

6,917,339

363,773

388,519

Total cost of sales and 		
administrative expenses

39,707,746

33,531,439

363,773

388,519

Depreciation

Categorised as follows:
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Expenses by
Nature

8.2 /
The total fees charged to the Group and the Company by the independent auditors
during 2018 can be analysed as follows:

(Contd)

THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

€

€

196,414

57,500

Tax advisory services

8,390

1,155

Other non-audit services

87,160

3,200

291,964

61,855

Auditors’ remuneration

09
Personnel
Expenses

Personnel expenses incurred by the Group during the year are analysed as follows:
2018

2017

€
€
		
Directors’ emoluments:
Salaries

464,220

424,525

90,000

90,000

554,220

514,525

7,451,959

6,031,623

Social security contributions

374,515

206,844

Termination benefit

139,306

127,775

5,568

5,460

Fees

Wages and salaries

Maternity fund

Special contribution
32,945
5,231
			
8,558,513
6,891,458
The weekly average number of persons employed by the Group during the year
was as follows:
2018

2017

No.
No.
		
Operating
Management and administration

255

222

37

36

292

258

The company had no employees during current and comparative years
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10
Finance
Income and
Finance Cost
THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Bank interest receivable		

9

4,499

9

2,929

Interest receivable from subsidiaries		

-

-

2,635,193

2,617,493

Unrealised exchange differences		

-

-

640,018

1,067,677

Realised exchange differences		

-

473,601

-

2,024

Finance income		
9
478,100
			

3,275,220

3,690,123

Interest payable on bank loans

THE COMPANY

(256,431)

(112,794)

-

-

(85,016)

(27,703)

-

-

Interest payable to note holders

(2,750,415)

(2,765,479)

(2,750,415)

(2,765,479)

Finance cost on finance leases

(1,760,802)

(1,507,778)

-

-

(517,243)

(5,545)

(353,428)

(1,132,866)

(3,103,843)

(3,898,345)

171,377

(208,222)

Other bank interest payable		

Exchange differences

Finance costs		
(5,369,907)
(4,419,299)
		
Net finance (costs) /income		
(5,369,898)
(3,941,199)
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11
Tax (Expense)
/ Income

11.1 / RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017

THE COMPANY
2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Current tax expense			
Current year		

(86,573)

(3,884)

(147)

-

Adjustment for prior years		

-

-

-

(84)

(147)

(84)

-

-

(147)

(84)

		
(86,573)
(3,884)

Deferred tax movement			
Movement in temporary differences		
(608,977)
407,312
		
Total tax (expense)/income		
(608,977)
403,428

96

Annual Report 2018

11
Tax (Expense)
/ Income

11.2 / The tax (expense)/income for the year and the result of the accounting loss
multiplied by the tax rate applicable in Malta, the Company’s country of incorporation, are
reconciled as follows:

(Contd)
THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017

THE COMPANY
2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Loss before tax

(8,831,344)

(8,036,987)

(122,946)

(1,134,662)

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate

3,090,970

2,812,945

43,031

397,132

(958,574)

380,755

-

-

(3,478,756)

(1,727,486)

(43,720)

(397,527)

Difference in tax rates applicable
to Group entities

(132, 717)

(10,142)

542

-

Exempt income

1,386,258

863,266

-

-

-

-

-

311

246,009

(541,661)

-

-

Consolidation adjustments not subject to tax (848,740)

(1,374,249)

-

-

403,428

(147)

(84)

Tax effect of:
Investment tax credits (see note 16.2)
Disallowed expenses

Adjustment to prior year current taxation
Adjustment to prior years’ deferred tax asset

Tax (expense)/income

(695,550)

The applicable tax rate during the current and comparative year is the statutory local income tax rate of
35% for income generated in Malta. The results from operations in Cyprus, Portugal and Egypt are subject to the
statutory local income tax of 12.5%, 21% and 22.5% respectively. The Company’s subsidiary in the Sohar Free Zone
in the Sultanate of Oman is exempt from income tax for a period of 10 years starting from 15 January 2012. The
Company’s subsidiary in the Special Economic Zone in Duqm in the Sultanate of Oman is exempt from income
tax for a period of 30 years from 1 November 2017. The Company’s subsidiaries in the U.A.E. and Southern Iraq are
exempt from income tax.
The Company’s subsidiary, Medserv Operations Limited is eligible to the incentives provided by regulations 5,
31 and 32 of the Business Promotion Regulations, 2001 (“BPRs”) and regulation 4 of the Investment Aid Regulations
(“IARs”) (see note 16.3).
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12
Adjusted
earnings
before
interest, tax,
depreciation
and
amortisation
(adjusted
EBITDA)

The Directors of the Group have
presented the performance measure
adjusted EBITDA as they monitor this
performance measure at a consolidated
level and they believe this measure is
relevant to an understanding of the
Group’s financial performance. Adjusted
EBITDA is calculated by adjusting profit
from continuing operations to exclude
the impact of taxation, net finance costs,

depreciation, amortisation and net
impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined
performance measure in IFRS. The
Group’s definition of adjusted
EBITDA may not be comparable with
similarly titled performance measures
and disclosures by other entities.

RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA TO PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

THE GROUP
		
2018
2017
			
Note
€
€
			
Loss from continuing operations		
(9,526,894)
(7,633,559)
Tax expense / (income)

11

695,550

(403,428)

Loss before tax 		

(8,831,344)

(8,036,987)

10

5,369,898

3,941,199

13, 28

7,874,864

5,646,216

15

1,472,988

1,666,012

6

45450,613

1,113,279

Net impairment losses on
13.6
property, plant and equipment		

981,572

-

Adjusted EBITDA		

7,318,591

4,329,720

Adjustments for:
Net finance costs
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of signing bonus
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13.1 /

										
					
			
BASE
TOTAL BUILDINGS IMPROVEMENTS
€

The Group

€

€

Cost		
Balance at 01.01.17

51,956,388

11,576,395

9,367,575

2,604,011

48,932

291,173

(74,757)

-

-

(399,159)

-

-

(2,500,356)

(163,348)

(719,301)

Balance at 31.12.17

51,586,127

11,461,979

8,939,447

Balance at 01.01.18

51,586,127

11,461,979

8,939,447

Additions

6,884,199

-

513,567

Transfers

-

-

950,562

Disposals

(2,190,831)

-

(1,437,581)

1,244,878

54,764

254,193

57,524,373

11,516,743

9,220,188

Balance at 01.01.17

17,701,607

2,107,788

3,845,538

Charge for the year

3,353,756

110,710

619,966

Disposals

(232,988)

-

-

Effect of movements in exchange rates

(1,119,687)

(80,047)

(310,775)

Balance at 31.12.17

19,702,688

2,138,451

4,154,729

Balance at 01.01.18

19,702,688

2,138,451

4,154,729

4,169,757

202,614

788,667

1,598,905

-

1,227,853

(1,594,762)

-

(1,191,436)

447,018

29,298

125,840

24,323,606

2,370,363

5,105,653

Acquisitions
Transfer
Disposals
Effect on movements in exchange rates

Effect on movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31.12.18
Depreciation

Charge for the year
Impairment losses
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31.12.18
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PHOTOCARGO
FURNITURE
OFFICE AND		
PLANT AND
VOLTAIC
CARRYING
AND
COMPUTER
MOTOR
ASSETS
EQUIPMENT
FARM
UNITS
FITTINGS
EQUIPMENT
VEHICLES
NOT YET IN USE
€

€

€

€

€

€

€

19,182,390

4,016,252

3,479,429

1,161,733

775,623

1,194,292

1,202,699

1,965,623

-

-

74,047

48,498

175,738

-

(60,270)

-

-

-

-

(14,487)

-

(367,559)

-

-

-

-

(31,600)

-

(1,333,559)

-

-

(23,679)

(18,747)

(94,801)

(146,920)

19,386,625

4,016,252

3,479,429

1,212,100

805,374

1,229,142

1,055,779

19,386,625

4,016,252

3,479,429

1,212,100

805,374

1,229,142

1,055,779

6,040,186

-

-

69,573

38,995

178,185

4,643,693

(66,772)

-

-

-

-

-

(389,790)

(482,808)

-

-

(69,234)

(61,882)

(139,326)

-

819,648

-

-

8,532

8,080

49,420

50,241

25,696,879

4,016,252

3,479,429

1,220,971

790,567

1,317,421

265,923

8,462,688

521,030

790,530

467,338

557,485

949,210

-

1,739,418

208,110

347,084

101,783

93,392

133,293

-

(195,585)

-

-

-

-

(37,403)

-

(617,720)

-

-

(15,264)

(15,376)

(80,505)

-

9,388,801

729,140

1,137,614

553,857

635,501

964,595

-

9,388,801

729,140

1,137,614

553,857

635,501

964,595

-

2,264,065

208,112

347,436

104,220

104,309

150,334

-

371,052

-

-

-

-

-

-

(213,439)

-

-

(27,707)

(50,971)

(111,209)

-

254,526

-

-

5,643

5,899

25,812

12,065,005

937,252

1,485,050

636,013

694,738

1,029,532

		

-
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13.1 (CONTD)

										
					
			
BASE
TOTAL BUILDINGS IMPROVEMENTS
€

The Group

€

€

Carrying amounts
						
At 1 January 2017
34,254,781
9,468,607
5,522,037
At 31 December 2017

31,883,439

9,323,528

4,784,718

At 1 January 2018

31,883,439

9,323,528

4,784,718

At 31 December 2018

33,200,767

9,146,380

4,114,883

13.2

13.6 / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

The Group’s buildings and base
improvements are situated on land held
under title of temporary emphyteusis (see
note 28.1).

During the current year, one of
the Group’s significant customers has
relocated its operations from the Group’s
base in the Sohar Freezone to its other
base in Duqm. Consequently, the Group
downsized its base in Sohar (see note
28.1) and incurred an impairment loss
of €1,227,392 (2017: €nil) on the carrying
amount of the base improvements,
which loss has been recognised in ‘other
expenses’. Included in ‘other income’ is
a reversal of a provision on legal and
constructive obligations amounting to
€617,478, which consisted of a minimum
increment rate of 2% per annum over the
future operating lease payments of the
above-mentioned lease in Sohar (see note
23.1).

13.3
Assets not yet in use as at yearend comprise capital expenditure on
the development of warehouses and
additional office buildings in the Group’s
facilities in the Middle East.
13.4 / COMMITMENTS
As at year-end, the Group’s contractual
commitments amounted to €508,568 (2017:
€nil) in relation to the construction of new
offices in Duqm.
13.5 / SECURITY
At 31 December 2018, the Group’s
emphyteutical rights on the Medserv
site at the Malta Freeport at the Port of
Marsaxlokk were subject to a general
hypothec and a special hypothec in
relation to the notes issue and bank
borrowings by the Group (refer to note 22).
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As a result of the losses sustained in
the current year by Middle East Tubular
Services Limited and Middle East Tubular
Services (Iraq) Limited Cash-Generating
Units (CGUs), the UAE and Iraq CGUs with
a total carrying amount of €2,245,962
and €4,520,705, respectively, were tested
for impairment. The recoverable amount
of these CGUs as at reporting date
were determined with reference to their
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PHOTOCARGO
FURNITURE
OFFICE AND		
PLANT AND
VOLTAIC
CARRYING
AND
COMPUTER
MOTOR
ASSETS
EQUIPMENT
FARM
UNITS
FITTINGS
EQUIPMENT
VEHICLES
NOT YET IN USE
€

€

€

€

€

€

€

						
10,719,702
3,495,222
2,688,899

694,395

218,138

245,082

1,202,699

9,997,824

3, 2 8 7,1 1 2

2,341,815

658,243

169,873

264,547

1,055,779

9,997,824

3, 2 8 7,1 1 2

2,341,815

658,243

169,873

264,547

1,055,779

13,631,174

3,079,000

1,994,379

584,958

95,829

287,889

265,923

13
Property,
plant and
equipment
The Group
(Contd)

value-in-use, determined by discounting
the future cash flows to be generated
from their continuing use. The cash flow
projections included specific estimates
for the five-year period 2019 to 2023 and
a terminal growth rate thereafter. The
cash flow projections in the prior period
considered specific estimates for the years
2018 to 2022.
An impairment loss of €371,514 was
determined in relation to the Iraq Machine
Shop CGU having a carrying amount of

€3,631,663 and a recoverable amount
of €3,260,149. The impairment loss was
allocated in full to ‘plant and machinery’
within the property, plant and equipment
schedule. This CGU provides handling,
inspection and machine shop services
to the OCTG market from its base in
the Khor Al Zubair Freezone in Basra,
located in South Iraq. The aggregate of
assets relating to this CGU was adjusted
from prior year to allocate corporate
assets used by multiple CGUs that were
previously used by one CGU.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use calculation of the Iraq
Machine Shop CGU were as follows:

2018

2017

%
%
		
Pre-tax discount rate

The values assigned to the key
assumptions represent management’s
assessment of future trends in the
industry. The key assumptions are based
on both external sources and internal
sources (historical data). The projected
annual revenue growth rate is based on

26.60

25.10

the assumption that there is a significant
increase in oil activity in the region.
The directors are satisfied that the
judgements made are appropriate to the
circumstances but, as with all projections
relating to future events, there is a degree
of uncertainty inherent in the figures.
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14
Investment
in subsidiaries

14.1 /
		
		
CAPITAL
			TOTAL
SUBSCRIBED
			

€

LOANS
RECEIVABLE

€

€

344,813

13,074,410

(12,127)

-

At 31 December 2017			13,407,096

332,686

13,074,410

At 1 January 2018			13,407,096

332,686

13,074,410

11.647

-

344,133

13,074,410

At 1 January 2017			13,419,223
Impairment loss			 (12,127)

Reversal of impairment losses			

11,647

At 31 December 2018			13,418,543

14.2
The loan receivable from the subsidiary as at 31 December 2018 is unsecured and
interest free. The loan is subject to an option to convert to share capital.
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14
Investment
in subsidiaries

14.3 / LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AND SUB-SUBSIDIARIES

(Contd)

SUBSIDIARIES

REGISTERED
OFFICE

OWNERSHIP INTEREST
2018
2017

		

%

NATURE OF
BUSINESS

PAID
UP

%		%

Medserv International
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99
Holding company
Birzebbugia			
Malta

25

Medserv Italy
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99
Holding company
Birzebbugia			
Malta

20

Medserv Eastern
Mediterranean
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99
Holding company
Birzebbugia			
Malta

20

Medserv Western
Mediterranean
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99
Holding company
Birzebbugia			
Malta

20

Medserv Libya
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99 Logistical support and
Birzebbugia			
other services
Malta

20

Medserv M.E.
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99
Holding company
Birzebbugia			
Malta

100

Medserv Operations
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
99.99
99.99 Logistical support and
Birzebbugia			
other services
Malta

100

Karaiskakis Street
80.00
80.00 Logistical support and
Limassol			
other services
Cyprus

100

Ave D Joao II 46–4-A
100.00
100.00 Logistical support and
1990-095 Lisbon			
other services
Portugal

100

18, Scott Bushe Street
100.00
100.00 Logistical support and
Port of Spain			
other services
Trinidad & Tobago, W.I.

100

Sub-subsidiaries
Medserv (Cyprus)
Limited

MDS Energy Portugal
Unipessoal Lda

Medserv Energy TT
Limited
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14
Investment
in subsidiaries
(Contd)

SUBSIDIARIES

REGISTERED
OFFICE

OWNERSHIP
2018

		
Medserv Egypt
Oil & Gas Services
J.S.C

%

INTEREST
2017

NATURE OF
BUSINESS

PAID
UP

%		%

51, Tanta Street
60.00
80.00 Logistical support and
Cairo, Egypt			
other services

100

Middle East Tubular
Services Holdings
Limited

Belmont Chambers
100.00
100.00
Road Town			
Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

Holding company

100

Middle East Tubular
Services Limited

Belmont Chambers
100.00
100.00
Road Town			
Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

OCTG services in
U.A.E.

100

Middle East Tubular
Services L.L.C. (FZC)

PO Box 561
100.00
100.00
PC322			
Al Falaj-Al Qabail
Sohar
Sultanate of Oman

OCTG services in
Sultanate of Oman

100

Middle East Tubular
Services (Iraq)
Limited

Belmont Chambers
90.00
90.00
Road Town			
Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

OCTG services in
Southern Iraq

100

PO Box 45
100.00
100.00
PC102			
The Special Economic
Zone of Duqm
Al Duqm, Al Wusta’a
Sultanate of Oman

OCTG services in
Sultanate of Oman

100

Belmont Chambers
100.00
Road Town			
Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

Holding company

100

Middle East
Comprehensive
Tubular Services
(Duqm) L.L.C.

Middle East Tubular
Services (Gulf)
Limited

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

€

€

€

€

€

€

-

28

17,335,634

135,449
2,605,760

135,449

80,580

28,440

52,140

52,140

14,499,708
13,162,169

At 31 December 2017		

At 31 December 2018		

2,605,760

2.470,311

-

28,440

23,700

203,822

232,262

Carrying amounts				

-

4,173,465

Balance at 31 December 2018

28

-

-

1,472,988

2,700,477

Balance at 31 December 2017		

-

Amortisation for the year		

(353,879)

Transfer to right-of-use assets		

-

-

1,666,013

Amortisation for the year		

-

Balance at 1 January 2018		
2,700,477

1,388,343

Balance at 1 January 2017		

284,402

Amortisation				

Balance at 31 December 2018

Effect of movements in exchange rates		

284,402

17,200,185

Balance at 31 December 2017		

-

-

Balance at 1 January 2018		
17,200,185
2,470,311

(965,124)

Transfer to right-of-use assets		

(403,287)

284,402

284,402

(403,287)

Effect of movements in exchange rates		

2,873,598

2,470,311

18,568,596

Balance at 1 January 2017		

10,106,697

11,516,934

3,995,671

1,410,237

2,585,434

2,585,434

-

1,410,237

1,175,197

14,102,368

-

14,102,368

14,102,368

-

-

14,102,368

245,890

280,201

97,214

34,311

62,903

62,903

-

34,311

28,592

343,104

-

343,104

343,104

-

-

343,104

-

-

-

-

-

(353,879)

193,025

160,854

-

-

-

-

(965,124)

-

965,124

Cost 							

Note

					
CUSTOMER		
CONTRACTUAL
		
TOTAL
GOODWILL
BRAND RELATIONSHIPS
LICENCES
RIGHTS

15.1 / RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNT

Intangible assets and goodwill

15
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15
Intangible
assets and
goodwill
(Contd)

15.2 / AMORTISATION
The amortisation of customer
relationships, licences, brand and
contractual rights is included in ‘cost of
sales’ in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
15.3 / TRANSFER TO RIGHT-OF-USE
ASSETS
At 31 December 2017, contractual rights
with carrying amount of €611,245 relating
to favourable lease terms on land leases
of one of the Company’s subsidiaries
were reclassified to right-of-use assets.
On 31 December 2018, the fair value of
these right-of-use assets was found to be
not materially different from its carrying
amount (see note 28).
15.4 / IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR
GOODWILL
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Middle East Tubular Services Limited (‘the
METS sub-group’) is mainly attributable
to the synergies expected to be achieved
from combining the operations of the

METS sub-group with the Group and the
skills and technical talent of the METS
sub-group’s work force. The goodwill
arising from the acquisition of the METS
sub-group has been allocated to the
group of CGUs making up the OCTG
segment. Goodwill has been capitalised
as an intangible asset and an impairment
assessment is carried out annually.
The recoverable amount of this
segment was based on its value-in-use,
determined by discounting the future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing
use of the CGU. The businesses of the
seperate CGU’s underlying the OCTG CGU
are subject to the following risks:
•

the global and regional political and
economic risks;

•

the volatility in oil and steel prices; and

•

the concentration risk due to the
dependency on a few customers.

The recoverable amount of the CGU
exceeded its carrying amount and thus no
impairment loss was recognised.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

Discount rate - range
Discount rate – weighted average
Terminal value growth rate
Average annual EBITDA margin
Average annual revenue growth rate

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

2018

2017

%

%

13.00 – 26.60

17.00 - 25.10

20.99

17.89

2.00

2.00

18.19 – 48.47

22.69 - 46.48

21.65

15.05
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15
Intangible
assets and
goodwill
(Contd)

15.4 / IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR
GOODWILL (CONTD)
The discount rates were a pre-tax
measure based on the base-specific
weighted-average cost of capital (WACC)
and reflects specific risks and conditions
related to the relevant base.

amount to exceed the recoverable
amount. The following table shows the
amount by which these assumptions
would need to change individually for
the estimated recoverable amount to be
equal to the carrying amount.

Change required
The cash flow projections considered
specific estimates of between five to nine
years for projects related CGUs, based on
the expected duration of the contracts for
the supply chain management of OCTG.
The other CGUs’ cash flow projections
included specific estimates for five years
and a terminal growth rate thereafter.
EBITDA margin was based on
management’s expectations of market
developments and future outcomes, taking
into account past performance, adjusted
for anticipated revenue growth. It was
assumed that sales prices would grow at a
constant margin above forecast inflation
over the projected period.
The estimated recoverable amount of
the CGU exceeded its carrying amount
by approximately €8.7 million (2017: €9.2
million). Management has identified
that the following changes in two key
assumptions could cause the carrying

2018

2017

%

%

Discount rate

+ 13.97

+ 11.54

Average EBITDA
margin

-24.32

-22.31
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16
Deferred tax
assets and
liabilities

16.1 /
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

NET

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

€

€

€

€

€

€

-

-

(1,056,870)

(1,012,533)

(1,056,870)

(1,012,533)

11,476

10,936

-

-

11,476

10,936

335,024

2,921

-

-

335,024

2,921

Provision for exchange
fluctuations

5,178

5,712

-

-

5,178

5,712

Investment tax credits

8,339,822

9,298,639

-

-

8,339,822

9,298,639

876,820

768,954

-

-

876,820

768,954

4,184,586

3,536,072

-

-

4,184,586

3,536,072

-

-

(9,763,028)

(9,362,572)

(9,763,028)

(9,362,572)

13,752,906

13,623,234

(10,819,898)

(10,375,105)

2,933,008

3,248,129

(4,334,362)

(4,357,709)

4,334,662

4,357,709

-

-

9,418,544

9,265,525

6,485,536

(6,017,396)

2,933008

3,248,129

Property, plant and equipment
Provision for
discounted future
gratuity payments
Provision for doubtful
debts

Unabsorbed capital
allowances and unutilised
tax losses
Lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets

Tax assets / (liabilities)
Set-off of tax
Net tax assets / (liabilities)
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16
Deferred tax
assets and
liabilities
16.2 / MOVEMENT
IN TEMPORARY
DIFFERENCES
DURING THE YEAR THE GROUP

		RECOGNISED
		 RECOGNISED
IN OTHER
		
IN PROFIT COMPREHENSIVE
BALANCE
AND LOSS
INCOME

BALANCE

01.01.17

2017

2017

31.12.17

€

€

€

€

Property, plant and equipment

(988,053)

(24,480)

-

(1,012,533)

Provision for discounted future
gratuity payments

-

2,921

-

2,921

11,438

(502)

-

10,936

1,563

4,149

-

5,712

Investment tax credits

9,274,117

24,522

-

9,298,639

Unutilised tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowances

476,965

366,578

-

768,954

Right-of-use assets

-

(3,427,359)

Lease liabilities

-

3,536,072

-

3,536,072

8,776,030

407,312

(5,935,213)

3,248,129

		 RECOGNISED
		
IN PROFIT
BALANCE
AND LOSS

IFRS 9
ADJUSTMENT
AT 01.01.18

BALANCE

Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for exchange fluctuations

(5,935,213) (9,362,572)

31.12.17

2018

2018

31.12.18

€

€

€

€

Property, plant and equipment

(1,012,533)

Provision for discounted future
gratuity payments

10,936

540

-

Provision for doubtful debts

2,921

38,247

293,856

Provision for exchange fluctuations

5,712

(534)

-

5,178

9,298,639

(958,817)

-

8,339,822

768,954

107,886

-

876,820

(9,362,572)

(400,456)

3,536,072

648,514

-

4,184,586

3,248,129

(608,977)

293,856

2,933,008

Investment tax credits
Unutilised tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowances
Right-of-use assets
Lease liabilities

(44,337)

- (1,056,870)

11,476
335,024

- (9,763,028)
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16
Deferred tax
assets and
liabilities
(Contd)

16.3 / RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX
ASSET ON INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS
As at 31 December 2018, a deferred tax
asset of €8,339,822 (2017: €9,298,639) was
recognised in the financial statements
to the extent of investment tax credits
expected to be utilised in the future. Based
on the Group’s profit forecasts for the
foreseeable period, the directors believe
that the Company will have sufficient
taxable profits in the future against which
this deferred tax asset can be utilised.
These profit forecasts were based on
realistic assumptions of business growth,
including the expected volume of business
arising from maintenance projects and the
provision of logistic support services to the
offshore oil and gas industry during the
forecast period that the directors believe
will be provided by the Company. Historic
values of similar projects were used to
support and quantify the net result of the
future projects and services. The extent of
utilisation of the investment tax credits,

17

Inventories amounting to
€1,274,704 (2017: €1,247,944) consisted
of consumables used in the provision
of maintenance and OCTG services.

Inventories
In 2018, inventories of €1,249,074
(2017: €615,209) were recognised as an
expense during the year and included
in ‘cost of sales’.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed
capital allowance, was based on the
assumption that the profit forecasts
will be subject to the current tax rate of
35%. Special Tax Credits (STCs) in terms
of regulations 31 to 35 of the BPRs that
are available to beneficiaries in terms of
regulation 32 of the BPRs amounting to
€307,222 (2017: €508,256) are to be utilised
by 31 December 2020. During 2018, one of
the Company’s subsidiaries was granted
the sum of €200,000 in settlement of
unutilised investment tax credits awarded
in relation to the STCs. This amount is
payable in two equal instalments over two
years. The first instalment was paid in 2018
and is being recognised in other income
(see note 7.1). The second instalment will be
received in 2019 and is included in other
receivables (see note 18.1). The investment
tax credits available in terms of regulation
5 of the BPRs and regulation 4 of the
IARs, and amounting to €8,032,600 (2017:
€8,790,384) do not expire.
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18
Trade
and other
receivables

18.1

THE GROUP
			
		
2018
2017

THE COMPANY
2018

2017

Note

€

€

€

€

Trade receivables		

12,824,215

12,229,307

-

-

Amounts due by
subsidiaries

18.2

-

-

12,049,301

9,114,847

Loans receivable from
subsidiaries

18.3

-

-

-

300,000

Other receivables		

1,152,161

680,051

-

-

Prepayments

754,235

1,799,779

-

-

Total trade and other
receivables		14,730,611

14,709,137

12,049,301

9,414,847

Non-current		
483,294

-

-

Current		
14,730,611
14,225,843

12,049,301

9,414,847

		14,730,611

12,049,301

9,414,847

18.5

14,709,137

18.2 /
Amounts due by subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. Transactions with related parties
are set out in note 30 to these financial
statements.
18.3 /
Loan receivable from subsidiaries
in the comparative year classified as
current assets was subject to 4% interest
unsecured and matured in 2018.
18.4 /
The Group’s exposure to credit and
currency risks and impairment losses
relating to trade and other receivables are
disclosed in note 27.

18.5 /
In the comparative year, prepayments
included a signing bonus originally
amounting to €1,590,401 subject
to vesting period granted to a key
management personnel of METS and
which was being amortised to profit or
loss over a period of two years, starting
on 23 February 2016. The carrying amount
of this signing bonus as at year end
amounts to €nil (2017: €132,533) and is
included in ‘administrative expenses’.
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18

18.6 /
Receivables from subsidiaries classified as non-current assets have the following
terms and conditions:

Trade
and other
receivables

				
THE COMPANY

(Contd)

		
Nominal
Year of
2018
Currency
interest rate
maturity
			
				€
				

2017

€

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.00%

2023

3,424,959

3,409,882

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.00%

2022

3,683,704

3,683,680

Unsecured loan

EUR

4.50%

2026

941,270

941,265

Unsecured loan

EUR

4.50%

2026

21,318,220

21,282,846

Unsecured loan

USD

5.75%

2026

8,116,425

7,740,595

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.00%

2023

9,346,513

9,306,112

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.00%

2019

-

1,628,703

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.25%

2019

-

910,164

Unsecured loan

EUR

6.00%

2020

1,628,701

-

Unsecured loan
EUR
6.25%
2020
910,163
			
		
		
49,369,955 48,903,247

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9			
(107,000)
			
		
		
49,262,955 48,903,247

18.7 /
Out of non-current assets, loans
receivable from Medserv M.E. Limited
amount to €38,781,158 (2017: €38,329,553).
For past due loans receivable, the
Company assesses whether those
receivables are credit impaired. Any credit
losses are measured at the present value
of all cash shortfalls. In estimating any
shortfalls (and therefore any expected
credit loss) on these loans receivable,

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

the Company applied the same valuein-use analysis prepared in estimating
the recoverable amount of goodwill as
the recoverability of those receivables is
supported by the same cash flows and
subject to the same risks factors and
key assumptions as those underlying the
calculation of the recoverable amount of
the OCTG CGU. Refer to 15.4.
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19

19.1 / SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP AND COMPANY

Capital and
reserves

Ordinary shares

In issue at 1 January and 31 December - fully paid

The Company’s authorised share
capital amounts to 120,000,000 shares
of €0.10 each (2017: 120,000,000 ordinary
shares of €0.10 each).
The holders of ordinary shares are
entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All shares rank equally with
regard to the Group and the Company’s
residual assets.
19.2 / SHARE PREMIUM
Share premium amounting to
€12,003,829 (2017: €12,003,829) represents
premium on issue of 8,744,399 ordinary
shares of a nominal value of €0.10 each at
a share price of €1.50 each (see note 19.1).
Share premium is shown net of transaction
costs of €238,330 directly attributable to
the issue of the ordinary shares.

2018

2017

No.

No.

53,744,405

53,744,405

19.3 / TRANSLATION RESERVE
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign currency differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations, as well as the
effective portion of any foreign currency
differences arising from hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation.
19.4 / HEDGING RESERVE
The hedging reserve comprises the
net loss on hedge of net investment in
foreign operations and the effective
portion of the cumulative net change in
the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent
recognition in profit or loss as the hedged
cash flows or items affect profit or loss.
19.5 / REVALUATION RESERVE
The revaluation reserve relates to the
revaluation of the right-of-use assets at
the reporting date consisting of land held
from emphyteutical grant (see note 28).
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19.6 / AVAILABILITY OF RESERVES FOR DISTRIBUTION

			
THE COMPANY
		
2018
2017
€

€

-

-

12,003,829

12,003,829

(Contd)
Distributable
Non-distributable

19.7 / DIVIDENDS
No reserves are available for distribution by the Company.

20
Earnings per
share

The calculation of basic earnings per
share of the Group and the Company is
based on the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the Company as
shown in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, divided
by the weighted-average number of
ordinary shares at 31 December 2018.

There were no dilutive potential
ordinary shares during the current and
comparative year.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (BASIC)

THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Loss for the year attributable						
to owners of the Company		(9,043,058)
(7,421,180)
(123,093)
(1,134,746)

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C
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20
Earnings per
share
(Contd)

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES (BASIC)
				
		 2018		2017
			
			
€
€
					
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 			 53,744,405		53,744,405
and 31 December			
Weighted-average number of ordinary 		 53,744,405		53,744,405
shares at 31 December			

Earnings per share of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December
2018 amounted to a negative 16c8 (2017: negative earnings per share of 13c8) and negative
11c3 (2017: positive earnings per share of 2c1) respectively.

21
Deferred
income

During 2012, the Group was awarded
an extension of property rights over
industrial property forming part of the
Malta Freeport at the Port of Marsaxlokk.
These property rights, which comprise land
and the overlying buildings and facilities,
emanate from the various emphyteutical
grant deeds, a lease agreement as well
as the operating licence issued by the
Malta Freeport Corporation Limited
to Medserv Operations Limited (the
subsidiary). The award was conditional
on the Group investing €9 million in
improvements to the underlying property
and reaching employment levels of 90 full
time equivalents by the year 2045. Both
conditions were fulfilled by
31 December 2014.

This deferred income is being
recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining period of the emphyteutical
grant. The amount recognised in
profit or loss during 2018 was equal
to €775,533 (2017: €775,533). Deferred
income also includes an amount of
€100,000 awarded in settlement of
unutilised special tax credits and a
government grant amounting to €54,762
(2017: €59,142) received in relation to the
Group’s investment in property, plant and
equipment, amortised over the estimated
useful life.
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22.1 /
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s and
Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information about the
Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 27.

			
THE GROUP		 THE COMPANY
		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans

3,975,265

1,221,877

-

-

Secured notes

19,928,216

19,862,674

19,928,216

19,862,674

Unsecured notes		 30,124,841

29,707,967

30,124,841

29,707,967

54,028,322
50,792,518
50,053,057
		

49,570,641

Current liabilities				
Secured bank loans		 2,075,411

1,181,635

-

-

Bank overdrafts		 3,209,219

865,083

-

-

2,046,718

-

-

5,284,635

22.2 / TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE
The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows:
ORIGINAL
CURRENCY

CARRYING
AMOUNT

NOMINAL
INTEREST RATE

YEAR
OF MATURITY

		€

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

Bank loan

EUR

826,489

Bank’s base rate+3.0%

2021

Bank loan

USD

457,642

LIBOR +3.50%

2019

Bank loan

OMR

749,112

5.50%

2022

Bank loan

EGP

4,017,432

5.00%

2021

Secured notes

EUR

19,928,216

6.00%

2023

Unsecured notes

EUR

22,074,946

4.50%

2026

Unsecured notes

USD

8,049,895

5.75%

2026
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22
Loans and
borrowings
(Contd)

The bank loans were secured by
first and second general hypothec for
€2,154,399 over all assets present and
future given by Medserv Operations
Limited, second general hypothec for
€1,876,904 over all present and future
assets, second special hypothec for
€1,876,904 over temporary utile of Medserv
site and property of Malta Freeport, joint
and several guarantee of €2,169,574,
pledge on receivables, guarantee for
€12,270,000 given by the Company; first
pledge over a combined business policy for
€8,568,381 and pledge of insurance cover
over purchased equipment for €1,334,000,
a letter of undertaking given by the
shareholders that Mr Anthony J Duncan

and Mr Anthony S Diacono will directly or
indirectly retain control and hold more
than 51% of the issued capital; letter of
undertaking by the parent company
whereby it undertakes to maintain the
present level of its control and interest in
Medserv Operations Limited through its
shareholding throughout the duration of
the facilities, and a letter of undertaking
by the Company whereby it undertakes
not to declare dividends or pay
shareholders’ loans without the bank’s
written consent. The USD denominated
debt are designated as hedging
instruments in a net investment hedge
(note 27.6)

22.3 /
The carrying amount of the notes is made up as follows:
2018

€

Balance at 1 January 2018

49,570,641

Effect of movement in exchange rate

349,801

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year
Balance as at 31 December 2018

132,615
50,053,057

2017

€

Balance at 1 January 2017

50,534,118

Effect of movement in exchange rate

(1,065,785)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year
Balance as at 31 December 2017

Notes issued in 2016 with a carrying
amount as at 31 December 2018 of
€30,124,841 (2017: €29,707,967) are
unsecured. The other notes are secured by
Medserv Operations Limited (a subsidiary

102,308
49,570,641

– see note 14.3) through a general
hypothec and a special hypothec over
its emphyteutical rights on the Medserv
site at the Malta Freeport at the Port of
Marsaxlokk (refer to Note 13.7).
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22.4 /
Furthermore, as at 31 December 2018, the Group enjoyed general overdraft facilities
of €3,000,000 at the following terms and conditions:
BANK OVERDRAFT

INTEREST RATE

SECURITY

€2,500,000
5.35%
		

First general and special hypothec for
€7,500,000 on subsidiary company’s assets.

€500,000
5.15%
		

Joint and several guarantees for €1,500,000
by the parent company; and

		
		

Letter of undertaking by the Company
to inform the bank of any default.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had unutilised bank overdraft facilities of €587,560 (2017:
€2,134,917).
At 31 December 2018, the Group availed of credit card facilities amounting to
approximately €1,935,000 for OCTG customs clearance purposes.

23
Provisions
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LEGAL AND
				CONSTRUCTIVE
			 TOTAL
OBLIGATIONS
			€

OTHER
CLAIMS

€

€

Balance at 1 January 2018			

(641,118)

(602,039)

(39,079)

Provisions used during the year			

61,626

61,626

-

Provisions made during the year			

(49,404)

(49,404)

-

Provisions reversed during the year			

617,478

626,552

-

Effect of movement in exchange rates		

(32,773)

(32,773)

-

Balance at 31 December 2018			
(44,191)
(5,112)
		
Non-current			-

(39,079)

Current			 (44,191)
(5,112)
		
			 (44,191)
(5,112)
		

(39,079)

-

(39,079)

23.1 / LEGAL AND CONSTRUCTIVE
OBLIGATIONS

result of the curtailment of activities in the
Company’s subsidiary in the Sohar Free
Zone, a provision amounting to €617,478

Legal and constructive obligations
amounting to €5,112 (2017: €602,039)
consist of a minimum increment rate of 2%
per annum over its future operating lease
payments of the Group’s lease in Sohar
Free Zone, the Sultanate of Oman. As a

(2017: €nil) was reversed during the year.
23.2 / OTHER CLAIMS
As a result of the acquisition of METS
the Group assumed a liability of €39,079.
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24
Employee
benefits

24.1 /
				

2018

2017

				

€

€

(786,202)

(677,462)

Liability for retirement gratuities				
(32,961)
			
			 (819,163)
			

(31,245)

Liability for severance payments				

Non-current				

(708,707)

(819,163)

(614,303)

Current				
			
				
(819.163)
				

(94,404)
(708,707)

24.2 /
The following table shows a reconciliation for the liability for severance payments and its
components:

				

2018

2017

				

€

€

(677,462)

(601,458)

Interest cost				

(255,465)

(272,805)

Effect of movements in exchange rates			

(33,533)

73,156

Benefits paid				
180,259
			
Balance at 31 December				
(786,202)
			

123,645

Balance at 1 January				
Included in profit or loss: 				

(677,462)

24.3 /
The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as
weighted averages):

				

2018

2017

Discount rate				

3.5%

3.5%

Future salary growth			

5.0%

5.0%

8.79 years

8.84 years

Expected term				
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24.4 /
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial
assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined
benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

Employee
Benefits
(Contd)

31 December 2018

Increase
Decrease
Increase
Decrease
				
€
€
€
€
				
Discount rate (1% movement)
28,029
(34,256)
44,230
(50,457)
Future salary growth (1% movement)
Expected term (1 year)

25
Trade
and other
payables

(86,248)

74,139

(111,360)

109,202

10,822

(13,639)

17,977

(20,090)

25.1 /
			
THE GROUP		THE COMPANY
		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Trade payables 		 4,402,335

3,633,213

87,530

79,538

Amounts due to shareholders		 61,014

61,314

61,014

61,314

Amounts due to note holders		 8,560

59,236

8,560

59,236

-

-

7,700,010

5,726,310

Amounts due to non-controlling		1,960,033
interest

850,003

-

-

Accrued expenses		1,147,156

431,167

154,656

22,833

Other payables		566,296

628,932

-

-

8,145,393

5,663,865

8,011,770

5,949,231

Amounts due to subsidiaries		

25.2 /
The amounts due to subsidiaries
and shareholders are all unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.
Transactions with related parties are
set out in note 30 to these financial
statements.
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31 December 2017

25.3 /
The Group’s and Company’s exposure
to currency and liquidity risk related to
trade and other payables is disclosed in
note 27.
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26
Cash
and cash
equivalents

			
THE GROUP		
		
2018
2017
Note

THE COMPANY
2018

2017

€

€

€

€

Cash in hand		161,602

84,090

-

-

Bank balances		5,454,630

3,549,673

15,916

704,909

15,916

704,909

Bank overdraft used for
22 (3,209,219)
(865,083)
cash management 					
purposes

-

		
5,616,232
3,633,763

Cash and cash equivalents		

2,407,013

2,768,680

15,916

704,909

The Group and Company exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for
financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 27.

27
Financial
instruments
Fair values
and risk
management

27.1 / ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS
AND FAIR VALUES
Accounting classifications
The Group classifies non-derivative
financial assets and non-derivative
financial liabilities into the categories of
‘loans and receivables’ and ‘other financial
liabilities’, respectively. At reporting
date, the Group’s loans and receivables
comprised cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables. On the same
date, the Company’s loans and receivables
comprised loans receivable from
subsidiaries, cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables. The
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities
comprised secured notes, loans and
borrowings, bank overdrafts and trade and
other payables. The Company’s
non-derivative financial liabilities
comprised secured notes and trade and
other payables.

Measurement of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting
policies and disclosures require the
measurement of fair values, for both
financial and non-financial assets and
liabilities.
Fair values have been determined
for disclosure purposes based on the
following methods. When applicable,
further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair
values is disclosed in the notes specific to
that asset or liability. When measuring the
fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
uses observable market data as far
as possible.
Significant valuation issues are
reported to the Group's audit committee.
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Fair values are categorised into
different levels in a fair value hierarchy
based on the inputs used in the valuations
techniques as follows:
•

•

(Contd)
•

then the fair value measurement is
categorised in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the
lowest level input that is significant to the
entire measurement.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

The Group recognises transfers
between levels of the fair value hierarchy
at the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted
market prices included in Level 1
that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

The following table shows the carrying
amounts and fair values of financial
assets and financial liabilities. It does
not include fair value information for
financial assets and financial liabilities
not measured at fair value if the carrying
amount is a reasonable approximation of
fair value.

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair
value of an asset or a liability fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy,

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

31 DECEMBER 2018

31 DECEMBER 2017

		
Carrying
Fair
		
amount
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

€

€

€

€

Secured notes		

(19,928,216)

(20,420,000)

(19,862,674)

(21,400,000)

Unsecured notes		

(30,124,841)

(30,528,551)

(29,707,966)

(30,664,883)

Financial instruments
not measured at fair value
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The Group and the Company did
not have any financial instruments
measured at fair value in the current and
comparative year.
The fair value of financial instruments
not measured at fair value was determined
as follows:

27.2 / FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has exposure to the
following risks arising from financial
instruments:

Secured and unsecured notes issued

•
•
•
•

This category of liabilities is carried at
amortised cost. Its fair value has been
determined by reference to the market
price as at 31 December 2018 and classified
as Level 2 in view of the infrequent activity
in the market.

This note presents information about
the Group’s exposure to each of the above
risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing
risk, and the Group’s management
of capital.

Loans and receivables

27.3 / RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

This category of assets is reported net
of impairment allowances to reflect the
estimated recoverable amounts. Cash
at bank and trade and receivables are
all short-term in nature. The carrying
amounts of these financial assets
therefore approximate their fair values.

The Company’s Board of Directors has
overall responsibility for the establishment
and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The board of
directors has established the Financial
Risk Management Committee, which is
responsible for developing and monitoring
the Group's risk management policies. The
committee reports regularly to the board
of directors on its activities.

Secured bank loans
The fair values of the Group’s interestbearing borrowings and loans are
determined by using the discounted
cash-flow method using discount rate that
reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at
the end of the reporting period.
Other financial liabilities
This category of liabilities is carried at
amortised cost. The carrying value of
these liabilities which are short term in
nature, approximates their fair values.
			

credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk.

The Group’s risk management
policies are established to identify and
analyse the risks faced by the Group, to
set appropriate risk limits and controls,
and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the
Group’s activities. The Group, through its
training and management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined
and constructive control environment
in which all employees understand their
roles and obligations.
The Group’s Audit Committee oversees
how management monitors compliance
with the Group’s risk management policies
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and procedures, and reviews the adequacy
of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group.
The Group Audit Committee is assisted in
its oversight role by internal audit. Internal
audit undertakes both regular and ad
hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures, the results of which are
reported to the audit committee.

27.4 / CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial
loss to the Group if a customer or
counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations,
and arises principally from the Group’s
bank balances, trade receivables, and
receivables from subsidiaries.
The carrying amounts of financial
assets represent the maximum credit
exposure as follows:

(Contd)

CARRYING AMOUNT
			
THE GROUP		
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THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Trade and other receivables 		
and contract assets 		

14,044,151

13,711,969

12,049,301

9,414,847

Receivable from subsidiaries		

-

-

49,262,955

48,903,247

Cash at bank		

5,454,630

3,549,673

15,916

704,909

19,498,781

17,261,642

61,328,172

59,023,003
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Impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or loss
were as follows:
			
THE GROUP		

Financial
instruments

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Fair values
and risk
management

Impairment loss on trade 		
and other receivables		

(95,751)

-

-

-

(Contd)

Impairment loss on amounts 		
receivable from subsidiaries		

-

-

69,454

-

Impairment loss on cash
at bank		

(26,894)

-

-

-

69,454

-

		
(122,645)
-

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group offers logistical and OCTG
services to large customers operating
within the oil and gas industry. These
customers operate huge budgets and
historically have sufficient funds to meet
their obligations towards the Group.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer.
However, management also considers the
demographics of the Group’s customer
base, including the default risk of the
industry and country in which customers
operate, as these factors may have
an influence on credit risk. Details of
concentration of revenue are included in
note 5.4.
Through the Financial Risk
Management Committee, the Group
has an internal control system which
identifies at an early stage any events of
default. Most of the Group’s customers
have been transacting with the Group

for a number of years, and losses rarely
occur. In monitoring customer credit
risk, customers are grouped according
to their credit characteristics, including
geographic location, aging profile,
maturity, trade history with the Group and
existence of previous financial difficulties.
The Group does not require collateral
in respect of trade and other receivables.
The Group does not have trade receivable
and contract assets for which no loss
allowance is recognised because
of collateral.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s
three (2017: three) most significant
customers accounted for
€8.06 million (2017: €6.25 million) of the
trade receivables.
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At 31 December 2018, the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
and contract assets by geographic region was as follows:
					
THE GROUP

Financial
instruments
Fair values
and risk
management

				
2018

2017

				€

€

Carrying amount
Domestic				
202,025
Eurozone countries				

(Contd)

627,876

2,403,176

2,661,044

Libya				
6,479,042

5,963,960

Middle East				

2,637,202

2,977,246

Other regions				

1,170,545

801,792

			

12,891,990

13,031,918

A summary of the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables and contract assets is as follows:
			
THE GROUP
				
				
2018
2017
		
				€
€
Not-credit impaired
				
External credit ratings at least 			
1,397,042
Baa3 from Standard & Poor’s
or BBB- from Standard & Poor’s

5,502,967

Other customers:				
Four or more years’ trading
history with the Group				

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

11,087,184

6,534,716

Less than four years’ trading				
history with the Group		

476,495

1,063,325

Higher risk				

879,713

-

Total gross carrying amount				

13,840,734

13,101,008

Loss allowance				

(948,774)

(169,090)

Carrying amount				

12,891,990

13,031,918
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Comparative information under IAS 39
An analysis of the credit quality of trade receivables and the ageing of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Financial
instruments
Fair values
and risk
management

THE GROUP
GROSS
IMPAIRMENT
		
2017
2017
		
€
€

(Contd)
Neither past due nor impaired		
Not past due

2,953,011

-

Past due 0-30 days

1,728,853

-

Past due 31-120 days

4,614,780

-

More than 120 days

2,932,663

-

Impaired		
More than 120 days

Other trade receivables were
predominantly highly reputable
international oil companies and their
subcontractors who have over five years’
trading history with the Group.

8,345

(8,345)

12,237,652

(8,345)
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Expected credit loss assessment for customers as at 1 January and 31
December 2018
The Group uses different provisioning
matrices to measure the ECLs of trade
receivables:
•

Loss rates calculated using a ‘roll rate’
method is based on the probability
of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to
write-off. Roll rates are calculated
separately for exposures by different
type of customer

•

Loss rates calculated using a method
based on the historical period of
sales to determine what part of sales
were actually written-off in preceding
reporting periods

•

Specific provisions for internally and
externally rated customers.

(Contd)

Loss rates are based on actual credit
loss experience over the past 3 years.
These rates are multiplied by scalar
factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets for corporate customers as at 31 December 2018:

WEIGHTEDGROSS
IMPAIRMENT
AVERAGE CARRYING
LOSS
CREDITTHE GROUP
LOSS WIEGHT
AMOUNT
ALLOWANCE
IMPAIRED
		
%
€
€
				
Current (not past due) and
< 30 days past due

0.15

750,585

(1,159)

No

Past due 31 to 60 days

1.59

106,382

(1,689)

No

Past due 61 to 90 days

3.00

118,381

(3,551)

No

Past due > 90 days
3.11
582,669
(18,133)
No
		
		
1,558,017
(24,532)

Loss rates calculated using a sales approach were based on actual credit loss
experience over the past three years, which after being multiplied by scalar factors to
take cognisance of current and future economic conditions resulted in a loss rate of 4.25%
resulting in an ECL of €310,420 on total exposures of €7,300,627 as at 31 December 2018.
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31 DECEMBER 2018
EQUIVALENT
WEIGHTED
GROSS
IMPAIRMENT
TO EXTERNAL
AVERAGE
CARRYING
LOSS
CREDIT RATING
LOSS RATE
AMOUNT
ALLOWANCE
			
		 %
€

CREDIT
IMPAIRED
€

Externally Rated
AAA

0.00%

2,088,786

-

No

BBB

0.12%

2,417,039

(2,891)

No

46.09%

879,713

(405,501)

Yes

Equivalent to D
100.00%
237,805
(237,805)
		
		
5,623,743
(646,237)

Yes

Internally Rated
Equivalent to CCC/C

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables
and contract assets
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and
contract assets during the year was as follows. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent
the allowance account for impairment losses under IAS 39.

			

		

THE GROUP

				
2018

2017

				€

€

Balance at 1 January under IAS 39			
8,345

-

Adjustment on initial 				
application of IFRS 9		

866,829

8,345

Balance at 1 January under IFRS 9			
875,174

8,345

Net remeasurement				
of loss allowance

106,015

-

Balance at 31 December				

981,189

8,345
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Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December 2018, the Group
and the Company held cash at bank of
€5,454,630 (2017: €3,549,673) and €15,916
(2017: €704,909) respectively. The cash and
cash equivalents are held with bank and
financial institution counterparties, which
are rated BBB+ to AA, based on Standards
& Poor’s ratings, and B3 to A1 by Moody’s.

Impairment on cash at bank has been
measured on a 12-month expected loss
basis and reflects the short maturities of
the exposures. The Group considers that
its cash and cash at bank has low credit
risk based on the external credit ratings
of the counterparties.

(Contd)

THE GROUP
THE COMPANY
		
2018
2018
		
€
€
At amortised cost		
A1

219,891

-

A2

155,348

-

3,903,641

-

75,438

-

1,775

-

B2

405,878

15,916

B3

672,249

-

47,304

-

5,481,524

15,916

(26,894)

-

5,454,630

15,916

Baa1
Ba1
Baa3

BBB
Gross carrying amounts
Loss allowance
Carrying amount

On initial application of IFRS 9, as at 1
January 2018, the Group and the Company
recognised an impairment allowance on
cash and cash equivalents of €26,894 and
€Nil, respectively.
Amounts due by subsidiaries
During 2018, an impairment loss of
€69,454(2017:€537,921) on the amounts

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

owed by subsidiaries was incurred during
the year.
Guarantees
At 31 December 2018, the Company
has issued a guarantee to certain banks
in respect of credit facilities granted to
two subsidiaries (see Note 29).
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27.5 / LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
will encounter difficulty in meeting the
obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to
the Group’s reputation.
The Group regularly reviews the
costing of its services in its effort to
monitor its cash flow requirements.
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The Group aims to maintain the
level of its cash and cash equivalents at
an amount in excess of expected cash
outflows on financial liabilities over the
next 60 days, including the servicing of
financial obligations. The Group also
monitors the level of expected cash
inflows on trade and other receivables
together with expected cash outflows
on trade and other payables. This
excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted, such as natural disasters.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
an unutilised overdraft facility amounting
to €587,560 (2017: €2,134,917), which bears
interest at the Bank’s Base Rate
plus 3 percent.

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

Trade and other payables

(5,663,865)
(135,281,825)

84,399,581

(57,111,074)

(888,224)

(2,628,716)

(41,789,946)

(27,200,000)

5,663,865

25,896,480

Lease liabilities

2,403,512

Secured bank loans
865,083

29,707,967

Unsecured notes

Bank overdraft

19,862,674

Secured notes

31 December 2017
Financial liabilities

(61,763,651)

(146,612,684)

30,508,779

Lease liabilities

(3,338,261)

97,967,124

3,209,219

Bank overdraft

(6,508,746)

(8,145,393)

6,050,676

Secured bank loans

(40,856,633)

(26,000,000)

€

8,145,393

30,124,841

Unsecured notes

Trade and other payables

19,928,216

Secured notes

31 December 2018
Financial liabilities

€

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL
AMOUNT
CASH FLOWS

(12,760,107)

(5,663,865)

(2,288,180)

(888,224)

(1,290,932)

(1,428,906)

(1,200,000)

(20,347,463)

(8,145,393)

(3,739,945)

(3,338,261)

(2,475,006)

(1,448,858)

(1,200,000)

€

LESS THAN
1 YEAR

(5,429,019)

-

(2,037,982)

-

(760,926)

(1,430,111)

(1,200,000)

(851,037)

-

(3,884,699)

-

(1,974,086)

(1,452,827)

(1,199,425)

€

1-2
YEARS

(14,586,779)

-

(6,119,287)

-

(576,858)

(4,290,634)

(3,600,000)

(37,874,146)

-

(7,867,344)

-

(2,059,654)

(4,346,573)

(23,600,575)

€

2-5
YEARS

(66,126,000)

-

(10,285,705)

-

-

(34,640,295)

(21,200,000)

(43,180,343)

-

(9,573,967)

-

-

(33,608,376)

-

€

5-10
YEARS

(36,379,920)

-

(36,379,920)

-

-

-

-

(36,697,695)

-

(36,697,695)

-

-

-

-

€

MORE THAN
10 YEARS

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual
interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:

Fair values and risk management (Contd)
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It is not expected that the cash flows
included in the maturity analysis are
likely to occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts.
		
27.6 / MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in
market prices, such as foreign exchange
rates, and interest rates that will affect
the Group’s income. The objective of
market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising
the return.
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency
risk to the extent that there is a
mismatch between the currencies in
which sales, purchases and borrowings
are denominated and the respective
functional currencies of the Group
companies. The functional currencies of
Group companies are primarily the Euro
(EUR) and US Dollar (USD). The currencies
in which these transactions are primarily
denominated are Euro (EUR), US Dollar
(USD), Libyan Dinar (LYD), Omani Rial

(OMR), Egyptian Pounds (EGP), British
Pounds (GBP) and United Arab Emirates
Dirham (AED).
In respect of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group ensures that its net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level
by maintaining funds in bank accounts
denominated in the same foreign
currencies. This will enable the Group to
hold on to foreign currency when rates are
not favourable until the situation reverses.
The Group determines the existence
of an economic relationship between
the hedging instrument and hedged
item based on the currency, amount and
timing of their respective cash flows. The
Group assesses whether the derivative
designated in each hedging relationship
is expected to be and has been effective
in offsetting changes in cash flows of
the hedged item using the hypothetical
derivative method.
In these hedge relationships, the main
sources of ineffectiveness are the changes
in the timing of the hedged transactions.
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The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional
amounts in foreign currency:

USD

LYD

OMR

AED

EGP

GBP

2,554,871

-

843,390

2,570,483

-

-

(71,834)

-

(241,052)

(1,835,005)

(3,042,570)

42,487

Unsecured notes

(9,212,171)

-

-

-

-

-

Bank loan

(523,446)

-

(329,277)

-

(82,095,476)

-

Available funds in foreign
currency

4,310,573

13,798

207,290

693,529

12,210,199

-

(2,942,006)

13,798

1,138,905

1,429,007

(72,927,847)

42,487

USD

LYD

OMR

AED

530,621

-

1,131,614

7,116,239

(369,579)

-

(375,793)

(3,734,272)

Unsecured notes

(9,181,930)

-

-

-

Bank loan

(1,072,075)

-

-

-

2,670,658

29,424
		

178,152

1,513,137

(7,422,305)

29,424

933,973

4,895,104

31 DECEMBER 2018

Trade receivables
Trade payables

Net statement of financial
position exposure

31 DECEMBER 2017
Trade receivables
Trade payables

Available funds in foreign
currency
Net statement of financial
position exposure
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The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional
amounts in foreign currency:
31 December 2018
USD
Receivables from subsidiaries

9,288,307

Unsecured notes

(9,212,171)

Available funds in foreign currency

11,326

Net statement of financial position exposure

87,462

31 December 2017
USD
Receivables from subsidiaries

9,272,180

Unsecured notes

(9,181,930)

Available funds in foreign currency
838,474
		
Net statement of financial position exposure
928,724

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

		

AVERAGE
REPORTING DATE
RATE		 SPOT RATE

2018

2017

2018

2017

USD

1.181

1.130

1.144

1.198

GBP

0.889

0.876

0.899

0.880

LYD

1.571

1.562

1.579

1.617

OMR

0.454

0.434

0.440

0.460

AED

4.337

4.150

4.203

4.399
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A 10 percent strengthening of the Euro
against the following currencies as at 31
December 2018 would have increased /
(decreased) profit or loss and equity by
the pre-tax amounts shown below. This
analysis is based on foreign currency
exchange rate variances that the Group
and the Company considered to be

reasonably possible at the end of the
reporting period. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. The
analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2017.

THE
THE
THE
THE
GROUP COMPANY
GROUP COMPANY
		
		Profit or loss		
Equity
31 December 2018

€

€

€

€

USD

(229,592)

(978)

486,251

-

LYD

(858)

-

-

-

OMR

-

-

(184,192)

-

AED

-

-

(34,002)

-

EGP

603,930

-

-

-

GBP

(4,770)

-

-

-

USD

(103,002)

(76,617)

697,350

(76,617)

LYD

(1,799)

-

-

-

OMR

-

-

(202,974)

-

AED

-

-

(111,284)

-

31 December 2017

A 10 percent weakening of the
Euro against the above currencies at
31 December 2018 would have had the
equal but opposite effect on the above
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currencies to the amounts shown above,
on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.
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At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interestbearing financial instruments was:

(Contd)

Profile

			 THE GROUP		

THE COMPANY

		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets		

5,454,630

3,549,673

15,916

704,909

Financial liabilities		 (4,493,350)

(3,268,595)

-

-

-

-

49,262,955

48,903,247

(50,053,057)

(49,570,641)

(50,053,057)

(49,570,641)

Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets		
Financial liabilities

The Group and the Company do not
account for any fixed-rate financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate
at the end of the reporting period would
not affect profit or loss. A change of 100
basis points in interest rates on fixed-rate
instruments is not expected to have a
significant effect on the Group’s and the
Company’s equity.

have increased or decreased the Group’s
profit or loss and equity by €22,723 (2017:
€2,811) and by €159 (2017: €7,049) on the
Company’s profit or loss and equity. This
analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular foreign currency exchange
rates, remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2017.

Net investment hedges
The Group’s bank balances and
borrowings and the Company’s bank
balances are subject to an interest rate
that varies according to revisions made to
the Bank’s Base Rate. The Group does not
carry out any hedging in order to hedge its
interest rate risk exposure.
A change of 100 basis points in interest
rates on variable-rate instruments would

A foreign currency exposure arises
from the Group’s net investment in METS
that has a USD functional currency. The
risk arises from the fluctuation in spot
exchange rates between the USD and the
Euro, which causes the amount of the net
investment to vary.
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The hedged risk in the net investment
hedge is the risk of a weakening USD
against the Euro that will result in a
reduction in the carrying amount of the
Group’s net investment in METS.
Part of the Group’s net investment in
METS is hedged by a USD denominated
secured bank loan (carrying amount:
€457,645 (2017: €894,962) and a USD
denominated bond (carrying amount:
€8,049,895 (2017: €7,674,291), which
mitigates the foreign currency risk arising
from the sub-group’s net assets. The loan
and the bond are designated as hedging
instruments for the changes in the value of
the net investment that is attributable to
changes in the EUR/USD spot rate.

To assess hedge effectiveness,
the Group determines the economic
relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item by
comparing changes in the carrying
amount of the debts that is attributable
to a change in the spot rate with changes
in the investment in the foreign operation
due to movements in the spot rate (the
offset method). The Group’s policy is to
hedge the net investment only to the
extent of the debt principal.

The amounts related to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows:

		
THE GROUP
2018

2017

€

€

457,642

894,962

8,049,895

7,674,291

8,507,537

8,569,253

487,867

(1,110,224)

(487,867)

1,110,224

-

-

(487,867)

1,110,224

Foreign exchange denominated debt
USD secured bank loan
USD denominated notes

Change in fair value used for calculating hedge
ineffectiveness
Change in value of hedging instrument
recognised in OCI
Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in profit
or loss within finance costs
Foreign currency translation reserve
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Financial
instruments
Fair values
and risk
management
(Contd)

27.7 / OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of direct or
indirect loss arising from a wide variety
of causes associated with the Group’s
processes, personnel, technology and
infrastructure, and from external factors
other than credit, market and liquidity
risks such as those arising from legal and
regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate
behaviour. Operational risks arise from all
of the Group’s operations.

•

requirements for the reporting of
operational losses and proposed
remedial action

•

development of contingency plans

•

training and professional development

•

ethical and business standards

•

risk mitigation, including insurance
where this is effective.

27.8 / CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective is to manage
operational risk so as to balance the
avoidance of financial losses and damage
to the Group’s reputation with overall
cost effectiveness and to avoid control
procedures that restrict initiative
and creativity.

The Group defines capital as paid-in
capital stock, additional paid-in capital
and retained earnings, both appropriated
and unappropriated. Other components
of equity such as cumulative translation
adjustments are excluded from capital for
the purposes of capital management.

The primary responsibility for the
development and implementation of
controls to address operational risk
is assigned to senior management.
This responsibility is supported by the
development of overall Group standards
for the management of operational risk in
the following areas:

The Group’s policy is to maintain a
strong capital base so as to maintain
investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the
business. The board of directors monitors
the return on capital, which the Group
defines as result from operating activities
divided by total shareholders’ equity. The
board also monitors the level of dividends
to ordinary shareholders.

•

requirements for appropriate
segregation of duties, including
the independent authorisation of
transactions

•

requirements for the reconciliation and
monitoring of transactions

•

compliance with regulatory and other
legal requirements

•

documentation of controls and
procedures

•

requirements for the periodic
assessment of operational risks faced,
and the adequacy of controls and
procedures to address the
risks identified

The board of directors seeks to
maintain a balance between the higher
returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital
position. In view of the nature of the
Group’s activities and the extent of
borrowings or debt, the capital level as at
the end of the reporting period is deemed
adequate by the board of directors. There
were no changes in the Group’s approach
to capital management during the year.

140

28
Leases

Annual Report 2018

28.1 / AS A LESSEE
The Group leases several parcels of land and buildings in Malta, Cyprus, Iraq, UAE
and Oman. The lease terms for these leases run for various periods, up to a maximum
remaining period of forty-three and a half years until 2060.

28.1.1 / Right-of-use Assets
Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below:

		
2018
2017
Note
€
€
			
Balance at 1 January		

75,895,472

24,418,217

Transfer from prepaid operating lease		

-

34,123,472

Additions		
9,796,875
3,739,249
Depreciation charge for the year		

(3,705,107)

(2,292,460)

28.1.1.2

-

16,957,752

15.3

-

611,245

Lease Modification		

(4,586,001)

-

Effect of movement in exchange rates		

933,818

(1,662,003)

Balance at 31 December		

78,335,057

75,895,472

Revaluation
Transfer from intangible assets

28.1.1.1 / Revaluation of land held from
emphyteutical grant
The Group carried out a fair value
exercise as at 31 December 2017 to revalue
the property rights over the land that the
Group holds. The property rights held by
the Group over industrial property forming
part of the Malta Freeport Terminals at
the Port of Marsaxlokk and at Hal Far
Industrial Estate in Malta were valued by
an external valuer.
The property rights of the Group
at the Malta Freeport Terminals, which

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

comprise industrial land and the overlying
buildings and facilities, emanate from the
emphyteutical grant deeds dated 29 May
1997, 23 December 1999 and 22 June 2004,
the lease agreement dated 5 December
2012 as well as the operating licence
issued by the Malta Freeport Corporation
Limited to Medserv Operations Limited on
the 5 December 2012. The property rights
of the Company at Hal Far Industrial
Estate, which comprise two adjacent
plots of industrial land, emanate from
the lease agreements. The valuation
of all these property rights was carried
out on the basis of Market Value on the
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assumption that the property rights could
be sold subject to any existing third-party
obligations.

the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset of €42,955,809 from the aggregate
of €59,913,561.

Leases

Based upon publicly available
data and comparable recent market
transactions on an arm’s length basis,
together with the analysis and experience
of the local real estate market and
information provided by the Company,
it is the professional opinion of the
independent valuer that the market
value of the above-mentioned right-ofuse assets, as at the 31 December 2017,
amounts cumulatively to €59,913,561. The
revaluation increase of €16,957,752 (gross
of tax) recognised in other comprehensive
income is thus determined after deducting

The carrying amount of the other
right-of-use assets relating to land are
not deemed materially different from their
fair value and have thus not
been revalued.

(Contd)

Valuation technique
Market approach: The
valuation model provides
an indication of value by
comparing the subject
asset with identical or
similar assets for which
price information is
available.

28.1.1.2 / Measurement of fair value
The following table shows the
valuation technique used in measuring
the fair value of land held from
emphyteutical grant, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used.

Significant unobservable
inputs
Prices per square metre
ranging from €161 to
€1,076.

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable
inputs and fair value
measurement
The estimate fair
value would increase/
(decrease) if: price per
square metre was
higher / (lower)
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28.1.2 / Lease liabilities
2018

2017

€

€

Maturity analysis-contractual undiscounted cash flows		
Less than one year

3,739,945

2,288,180

One to five years

11,752,043

8,157,270

9,573,767

10,285,705

36,697,695

36,379,920

Five years to ten years
More than ten years

Total undiscounted lease liabilities
61,763,450
57,111,075
at 31 December
		
Current
Non-current

1,825,925

841,670

28,682,854

25,054,810

Lease liabilities included in the statement of
30,508,779
25,896,480
financial position at 31 December
		
Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Interest on lease liabilities
Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

2018

2017

€

€

(1,760,802)

(1,507,778)

(53,040)

(70,418)

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
2018
2017
			
€
€
Total cash outflow for leases

28.1.3 / Extension option
Some leases contain extension
options exercisable by the Group up to
one year before the end of the contract
period. Where practicable, the Group
seeks to include extension options
in new leases to provide operational
flexibility. The extension options held are
exercisable by the Group and not by the
lessors. The Group assesses at the lease
© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

(3,187,177)

(2,082,114)

commencement whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the extension options
and subsequently reassess whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the options
if there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstances within its
control. The extension options provided to
the Group were assessed by management
and it was concluded that all extension
options exercisable by the Group are
reasonably certain to be exercised.
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29.1 /
At reporting date, the Group had the
following contingent liabilities:

Contingencies

•

•

30
Related
Parties

Guarantees given to the Group’s
bankers in favour of third parties
amounting to €1,811,876 (2017: €106,099)
The Company acts as a guarantor
to certain banks in respect of credit
facilities granted to two subsidiaries up
to a limit of €12,270,000.

•

First charge over the purchased
machinery, equipment, vehicles by a
subsidiary in favour of the bank.

•

Irrevocable assignment of payments
from a customer of a subsidiary in
favour of the bank.

30.1 / SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS
Two of the Company’s directors,
namely Mr Anthony S Diacono and Mr
Anthony J Duncan hold 31.17% and 34.33%
(2017: 31.17% and 34.33%) respectively of
the issued share capital of the Company
either directly or indirectly.
30.2 / IDENTITY OF RELATED PARTIES
The Group has a related party
relationship with its directors, shareholders
and immediate relatives of a director.
The Company has a related party
relationship with its subsidiaries (see note
14), its directors and companies controlled
by subsidiaries (“other related parties”).

•

Marginal deposit by way of monthly
margin built up of OMR2,700 for 36
months till the balance reaches OMR
97,200;

•

Letter of undertaking to route 100% of
receivables of a particular customer
through the Group’s bankers.

29.2 /
The Company has uncalled share
capital on its investments in subsidiaries,
namely Medserv International Limited,
Medserv Italy Limited, Medserv Libya
Limited, Medserv Western Mediterranean
Limited and Medserv Eastern
Mediterranean Limited amounting to
€38,781 (2017: €38,781) (see note 14).

30.3 / TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
			
There were no loans to directors
during the current and comparative year.
Compensation for services provided to
the Group by key management personnel
during the year amounted to €225,000
(2017: €228,500). The total remuneration
paid to key management personnel of the
Group (including directors’ emoluments)
during the year amounted to €1,378,511
(2017: €1,049,411).
A number of key management
personnel, or their related parties, hold
positions in other companies that result
in them having control or significant
influence over the financial or operating
policies of these companies.

144

30
Related
Parties
(Contd)

Annual Report 2018

30.4 / OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions disclosed in the statements of changes in equity and cash
flows and note 18 to these financial statements, there were the following related party
transactions:

				

THE GROUP

		
				

Subsidiaries
Interest charged to				

THE COMPANY

2018

2017

€

€

2,635,193

2,617,493

			
THE GROUP		THE COMPANY
		
2018
2017

2018

2017

		
€
€

€

€

-

-

Other related parties
Services provided by		40,567

17,181

30.5 / RELATED PARTY BALANCES
Information on amounts due from or payable to related parties are set out in notes 14, 18
and 25 to these financial statements.

31
Subsequent
events

© All Rights Reserved Medserv P.L.C

Medserv International Limited, a
subsidiary domiciled and incorporated in
Malta, has been awarded a fifteen months
contract to provide ILSS services for the
nearshore drilling campaign conducted
by Suriname’s national oil company in the
country. This new contract was awarded
through a competitive tender process
and is effective as from 1 January 2019.
Consequently, the subsidiary has opened a
branch in Suriname on 14 January 2019.
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(+356) 2563 1000
Fax
(+356) 2566 1000
Website
www.kpmg.com.mt

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
1

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Medserv p.l.c. (the “Company”) and of the
Group of which the Company is the parent, which comprise the statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements:
(a) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2018, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU; and
(b) have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (the “Act”) and, additionally, specifically in
relation to those of the Group, with the requirements of article 4 of the Regulation
on the application of IFRS as adopted by the EU.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. During the
course of our audit, we maintained our independence from the Company and the Group
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants, together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy
Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act (Chapter 281, Laws of Malta) (“APA”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
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partnership of Certified Public
Accountants in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act.

A list of partners and directors of
the firm is available at Portico
Building, Marina Street, Pietà,
PTA9044, Malta.

147

Notes to the Financial Statements

KPMG
Portico Building
Marina Street
Pietà PTA 9044
Malta
Telephone
(+356) 2563 1000
Fax
(+356) 2566 1000
Website
www.kpmg.com.mt

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period (selected from
those communicated to the audit committee), and include a description of the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
We summarise below the key audit matters, together with our response by way of the
audit procedures we performed to address that matter in our audit, and key observations
arising with respect to such risks of material misstatement.
Assessment of the carrying amount of (a) Goodwill, intangible assets and property
plant and equipment related to the Oil Country Tubular Goods (“OCTG”) segment
(collectively referred to as “METS sub-group”) (Group); and (b) loans receivable
from subsidiary (Company)
Accounting policy notes 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.5.1, 3.6.1, 3.9.1 and 3.9.2 to the financial
statements and notes 13, 15, 18 and 27 for further disclosures.
Goodwill (Group: €2,605,760) and intangible assets (Group: €10,556,409) included in
‘Intangible assets and goodwill’;
Property, plant and equipment in relation to (i) Middle East Tubular Services Limited,
and (ii) Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited (“PPE”) (Group: €6,766,667 in
aggregate, net of impairment) included in ‘Property, plant and equipment’; and
Loans receivable from Medserv M.E Limited (Company: €38,781,158) included in
‘Receivables from subsidiaries’.
The Group’s assets include goodwill, intangible assets and PPE in relation to OCTG
businesses of the Group. Each of those businesses is considered by the Group to be a
separate cash generating unit (“CGU” or “CGUs”). Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of the METS sub-group has been allocated to a collection of CGUs, the OCTG segment
as a whole (“OCTG CGU”).

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
Document classification: KPMG Confidential

The firm is registered as a
partnership of Certified Public
Accountants in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act.

A list of partners and directors of
the firm is available at Portico
Building, Marina Street, Pietà,
PTA9044, Malta.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Key audit matters (continued)
At each reporting date, the Company is required to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment on the intangible assets (other than goodwill) and the PPE. In
the event that such indicators exist (at the separate CGU level), the Company is required
to estimate the recoverable amount of that CGU, without consideration of goodwill. The
OCTG CGU, to which the goodwill relates, is separately tested annually for impairment.
The key risk factors identified by the Group for the businesses to which the separate
CGUs and the OCTG CGU relate are:
• the global and regional political and economic risks;
• the volatility in oil and steel prices; and
• the concentration risk due to dependency on a few customers.
In estimating the recoverable amount, as per the applicable financial reporting
framework, the directors prepare a value-in-use analysis. The key inputs, specific to the
Company, comprise future cash flows, growth rates and discount rates. Those inputs
are subject to inherent estimation uncertainty and therefore, significant judgement.
At reporting date, the Company had loans receivable from one of its subsidiaries,
Medserv M.E. Limited in relation to the loans advanced to that subsidiary for the
acquisition of the METS sub-group. For past due loans receivable, the Company
assesses whether those receivables are credit impaired. Any credit losses are measured
at the present value of all cash shortfalls. In estimating any shortfalls (and therefore any
expected credit loss), the Company applied the same value-in-use analysis prepared in
estimating the recoverable amount of goodwill as the recoverability of those receivables
is supported by the same cash flows and subject to the same risks factors and key
assumptions as those underlying the calculation of the recoverable amount of the OCTG
CGU.

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Key audit matters (continued)
Our response
We involved our valuation specialist, as appropriate, in performing our procedures. As
part of those procedures,
-

we compared the Group’s 2018 budgets with the actual performance of each
separate CGU for the reporting period and made enquiries as to the reasons for any
significant variations identified and assessed the reasonableness of the explanations
provided, by corroborating these against our knowledge of the Group;

-

we assessed the impact of the underlying business risk factors and the assumptions
applied in the value-in-use analysis including projected EBITDA margins with
reference to our understanding of the Group, historical trends, available industry
information, available market data and relevant documentation on contracted and
current business pipeline;

-

we assessed whether the discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow
forecasts were within a reasonable range by reference to comparable market data;
and

-

we assessed the impact on the impairment assessment of reasonable possible
changes in the key assumptions in the value-in-use analysis including discount rate,
terminal value growth rate, average annual revenue growth rate and average EBITDA
margins used for estimating the recoverable amounts of each separate CGU and the
OCTG CGU.

Key observation
Specifically in relation to the estimation of value-in-use of the CGUs, we have engaged
in discussions with the directors in respect of significant enhancements to the precision
of the control over their review of the key inputs and assumptions underlying that
estimate.

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Key audit matters (continued)
Recoverability of deferred tax assets
Accounting policy note 3.16 to the financial statements and note 16 for further
disclosures.
‘Deferred tax assets’ (Group: €9,418,544).
The Group recognised deferred tax assets that, in the main, relate to unutilised tax
credits, accumulated tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances. In accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework, the recognition of those deferred tax assets
is permitted only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which these assets can be used. Such restrictions are more pronounced where
the carry forward of tax credits to future profits are time-barred. The recognition of
deferred tax assets, therefore, requires significant judgement in estimating future
profitability (and the extent of taxable profits) based on profit forecasts drawn up by the
directors. Due to estimation uncertainty, the projected relief of tax credits for which the
deferred tax assets are recognised, might be materially different from the amount
ultimately relieved.
Our response
As part of our audit procedures,
-

we compared the Group’s 2018 budget with the actual performance for the reporting
period and made enquiries as to the reasons for any significant variations identified
and assessed the reasonableness of the explanations provided, by corroborating
these against our knowledge of the Group;

-

we evaluated the assumptions adopted in the preparation of taxable profit forecasts
with reference to our understanding of the Group’s business, historical trends,
available industry information and available market data and relevant documentation
on the Group’s contracted and current business pipeline; and

-

specifically in relation to carry forward tax credits subject to time-barring, we also
assessed the impact of reasonable possible changes in the underlying assumptions of
the forecasts on the Group’s ability to utilise these tax credits before expiry.

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Key audit matters (continued)
Recoverability of deferred tax assets (continued)
Key observation
Specifically in relation to the estimation of future taxable profits, we have engaged in
discussions with the directors in respect of significant enhancements to the precision of
the control over their review of the key inputs and assumptions underlying that estimate.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information which comprises:
-

the ‘Chairman’s Statement’;
the ‘CEO’s Statement’;
the ‘Statement on Corporate Social Responsibility’;
the ‘Directors’ Report’;
the ‘Statement by the Directors pursuant to Listing Rule 5.68’; and
the ‘Directors’ Statement of Compliance with the Code of Principles of Good
Corporate Governance’,

but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, other
than in the case of the directors’ report on which we report separately below in our
‘Opinion on the Directors’ Report’, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information, and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that (a) give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and (b) are properly
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and, additionally, specifically in
relation to those of the Group, with the requirements of article 4 of the Regulation on the
application of IFRS as adopted by the EU. The directors are also responsible for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company and/or the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. ‘Reasonable assurance’
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

KPMG, a Maltese civil partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Consider the extent of compliance with those laws and regulations that directly affect

the financial statements, as part of our procedures on the related financial statement
items. For the remaining laws and regulations, we make enquiries of directors and
other management, and inspect correspondence with the regulatory authority, as well
as legal correspondence. As with fraud, there remains a higher risk of non-detection
of other irregularities (whether or not these relate to an area of law directly related to
the financial statements), as these may likewise involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s and the Group’s
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company's and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company and/or the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial
statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
2

Opinion on the Directors’ Report

The directors are responsible for preparing a directors’ report in accordance with the
provisions of article 177 of the Act, and other applicable legal requirements, and is to
include a statement that the Company is a going concern with supporting assumptions
or qualifications as necessary, as required by Listing Rule 5.62 issued by the Listing
Authority in Malta.
We are required to consider whether the information given in the directors’ report for the
accounting period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with
those financial statements; and, if we are of the opinion that it is not, we shall state that
fact in our report. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Pursuant to article 179(3) of the Act, we are also required to:

• express an opinion on whether the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal requirements; and

• state whether, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its

environment obtained in the course of our audit of the financial statements, we have
identified material misstatements in the directors’ report, giving an indication of the
nature of any such misstatements.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.62 of the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority in Malta,
we are required to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern.
In such regards:

• in our opinion, the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the
applicable legal requirements;

• we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report; and
• we have nothing to report in relation to the statement on going concern.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
3

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Matters on which we are required to report by the Act, specific to public-interest
entities
Pursuant to article 179B(1) of the Act, we report as under matters not already reported
upon in our ‘Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements’:
•

we were first appointed as auditors by the board of directors on 26 October 2001,
and subsequently reappointed by the shareholders at the Company’s general
meetings for each financial year thereafter. Following the listing of the Company’s
shares on the Malta Stock Exchange, and excluding the initial period during which
those shares were listed (that is, financial year ending 31 December 2006), the
period of total uninterrupted engagement is twelve years;

•

our opinion on our audit of the financial statements is consistent with the additional
report to the audit committee required to be issued by the Audit Regulation (as
referred to in the Act); and

•

we have not provided any of the prohibited services as set out in the APA.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception by the Act
Pursuant to articles 179(10) and 179(11) of the Act, we have nothing to report to you
with respect to the following matters:

•

proper accounting records have not been kept; or

•

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or

•

we have not obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, we require for the purpose of our audit.

The Principal authorised to sign on behalf of KPMG on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Noel Mizzi.

KPMG
Registered Auditors
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c
Report required by Listing Rule 5.98 issued by the Listing Authority in Malta
We are required, pursuant to Listing Rule 5.98, to express an opinion to the shareholders
of Medserv p.l.c (the “Company”) on specific disclosures in the Annual Report which
relate to the directors’ corporate governance statement (the “Disclosures”) for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
Specifically, with respect to the following matters noted in Listing Rule 5.100, we report
whether:
(a) we have identified material misstatements with respect to the disclosures referred
to in Listing Rule 5.97.4 and Listing Rule 5.97.5. Where any material misstatements
are identified, we are required to provide an indication of the nature of such
misstatements; and
(b) the other disclosures required by Listing Rule 5.97 have been provided.
Responsibilities of the Directors
Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.97, the directors are responsible for preparing the Disclosures
that are free from material misstatement in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.
Auditors’ Responsibilities
Our responsibility is to examine the Disclosures and to report thereon in the form of a
reasonable assurance conclusion based on our work. We conducted our engagement in
accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000, Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information.
We apply International Standard on Quality Control 1 and, accordingly, we maintain a
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c
Auditors’ Responsibilities (continued)
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders)
Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Chapter 281, Laws of
Malta), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the directors’ statements on
internal control and risk management systems cover all the risks and controls in relation
to the financial reporting process or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s corporate governance procedures or its risks and control procedures, nor on
the ability of the Company to continue in operational existence. Our opinion in relation
to the disclosures pursuant to Listing Rule 5.97.4 and Listing Rule 5.97.5 is based solely
on our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in
forming our opinion on the audit of the financial statements. We have not performed any
procedures by way of audit, verification or review on the underlying information from
which the other disclosures required by Listing Rule 5.97 is derived.
We also read the other information included in the Annual Report in order to identify any
material inconsistencies with the Disclosures.
Conclusion
Our conclusion has been formed on the basis of, and is subject to, the matters outlined
in this report.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our conclusion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Medserv p.l.c
Conclusion (continued)
In our opinion:
(a) in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment
obtained during the course of our audit of the financial statements, we have not
identified material misstatements with respect to the following disclosures:
(i)

the information referred to in Listing Rule 5.97.4, included in the
directors’ Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance, as this
relates
to
the
Company’s
internal
control
and
risk
management systems in relation to the financial reporting process; and

(ii)

the information referred to in Listing Rule 5.97.5, included in the
Directors’ Report, insofar as it is applicable to the Company;

(b) the other disclosures required by Listing Rule 5.97 have been included in the
directors’ Statement of Compliance on Corporate Governance, as these apply to
the Company.
The Principal authorised to sign on behalf of KPMG on the work resulting in this
assurance report is Noel Mizzi.

30 April 2019

KPMG
Registered Auditors
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